# PEDIATRIC HIV-1 DRUG RESISTANCE IN BOTSWANA

## By

# Natasha Onalenna Moraka

Thesis presented in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

# MSc in Medical Virology

in the Faculty of Health Science at

# **Stellenbosch University**

Division of Medical Virology, Department of Pathology

Supervisors:

**Supervisor:** 

Gert U. van Zyl, MBChB, MMed, PhD<sup>1,3</sup>

**Co- supervisors:** 

Sikhulile Moyo, MSc, MPH, PhD <sup>2,4</sup>

Simani Gaseitsiwe, PhD <sup>2,4</sup>

- 1. Division of Medical Virology, Stellenbosch University Tygerberg, Cape Town, South Africa.
- 2. Botswana Harvard AIDS Institute Partnership.
- 3. National Health Laboratory Service (NHLS) Tygerberg, Cape Town, South Africa.
- 4. Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health, Boston, MA, USA.





## DECLARATION

By submitting this thesis electronically, I declare that the entirety of the work contained therein is my own, original work, that I am the sole author thereof (save to the extent explicitly otherwise stated), that reproduction and publication thereof by Stellenbosch University will not infringe any third-party rights and that I have not previously in its entirety or in part submitted it for obtaining any qualification.

Name and student ID: Onalenna Natasha Moraka

Signature:

Date: May 2021

### **ENGLISH - ABSTRACT**

Antiretroviral therapy (ART) treatment in pregnant women and new-borns for prevention of mother-to-child transmission (PMTCT) can result in Human Immunodeficiency Virus drug resistance (HIVDR) in paediatrics; either transmitted or arising de novo after transmission. To our knowledge, there is paucity of data describing patterns of HIVDR in infants in Botswana. The aims of this dissertation were to describe HIVDR patterns in newly diagnosed infants in Botswana and determine the prevalence and role of HIVDR mutations in HIV-1 cell associated DNA (HIV-1 CAD) of early treated <18-month-old infants.

Seventy-eight residual dried blood spots (DBS) from <18-month-old HIV positive children from the Botswana HIV early infant diagnosis (EID) program (2016 - 2019) were available for HIVDR surveillance. Protease and reverse transcriptase regions were amplified and sequenced using ATCC HIV-1 Drug Resistance Genotyping kits and big dye chemistry. Surveillance drug-resistance mutations (SDRMs) were assessed using the Calculated Population Resistance program.

We analysed 257 proviral near full-length sequences (nFLS) obtained from peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) of 27 infants in the Botswana early infant treatment (EIT) Study. Sanger sequencing of HIV *pol* was also performed for 22 maternal samples at delivery and at clinical failure in children. All nFLS and HIV *pol* sequences were analysed for the presence of HIVDR mutations using the Stanford HIV Drug Resistance database.

Of the 78 DBS samples, 32 (41%) were successfully amplified and sequenced. The median age was 2 months (IQR: 2-4). Three (9.7%) newly diagnosed infants had detectable SDRMs. Among these infants, one (33%) had a non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor (NNRTI) HIV SDRM (K103N) detected and two (67%) had a detectable protease inhibitor (PI) SDRMs (M46L and L23I).

A total of 27 (56.2%) EIT infants had nFLS within one month of life. The median age at enrolment for infants was 2 days [Range: 2-3], with a median digital droplet PCR (ddPCR) HIV-1 CAD load value of 492 units [IQR: 78-1246]. Cell-associated HIVDR mutations were detected in 3/27 (11.1%) infants with intact HIV-1 CAD. A total of 106 (41.3%) intact sequences had at least 1 DRM; 29.2% had NNRTI, 7.5% NRTI, 0.9% PI and none with INSTI associated mutations. A total of 151 (58.7%) defective sequences had at least 1 DRM; 31.8% NNRTI, 15.2% NRTI, 5.3% PI and 15.5% INSTI associated mutations. Higher frequency of

DRM was detected in defective HIV-1 CAD compared to intact infant HIV-1 CAD, although not statistically significant (p=0.14). Three infants had the same HIVDR mutations detected in their intact HIV-1 CAD and corresponding maternal plasma at delivery. Archived HIV-1 CAD HIVDR mutations were detectable at later clinical rebound on only one occasion.

In conclusion, we report relatively high rates of HIVDR mutations among newly diagnosed and early treated infants with known and unknown PMTCT exposure in Botswana. Our results suggest that exclusion of sequences with defects when interpreting HIVDR mutations from HIV-1 CAD is crucial as these may overestimate true mutations which may impact future clinical outcomes in children.

### AFRIKAANS - OPSOMMING (MAX. 500 WORDS)

Antiretrovirale behandeling (ART) in swanger vrouens en pasgebore babas wat moeder-totkind oordrag van menslike immuniteitsgebreksvirus (MIV) voorkom, kan lei tot middelweerstandige MIV in babas wat of oorgedra word of de novo kan ontstaan. Tans is daar min data beskikbaar wat patrone van MIV middelweerstandigheid (MIVMW) in babas van Botswana beskryf. Die doelwitte van hierdie tesis was om MIVMW patrone te beskryf in pas gediagnoseerde babas in Botswana en om die voorkoms en rol van MIVMW-mutasies in MIV-1-sel-geassosieerde deoksiribonukleïensuur (DNS) (MIV-1 SGD) van vroegbehandelde babas jonger as 18 maande te bepaal.

Agt-en-sewentig residuele gedroogde bloedvlekke (GBV) van MIV-gediagnoseerde kinders jonger as 18 maande oud wat by die Botswana program vir vroeë baba-diagnose (VBD) (2016-2019) gewerf was, was beskikbaar vir MIVMW bestudering. Protease- en tru-transkriptase gene is geamplifiseer en volgorde bepaling is gedoen met behulp van ATCC MIV-1MW genotiperings kits en BigDye<sup>™</sup> chemie. Middelweerstandige mutasies monitering (SDRMs) is geondersoek deur die Berekende Bevolkingsweerstandsprogram.

Twee honderd sewe-en-vyftig provirale naby-vollengte volgordes (nFLS) van perifere mononukleêre selle van 27 babas, van die studie vir vroeë babas in Botswana, is geanaliseer. Sanger-volgordebepaling van MIV pol is ook uitgevoer vir 22 monsters van moeders met geboorte en wanneer kinders klinies faal. Alle nFLS- en HIV-pol *volgordes* is geanaliseer vir die teenwoordigheid van MIVMW-mutasies deur gebruik te maak van die Stanford HIV Drug Resistance databasis.

Twee-en-dertig (41%) van die 78 GBV-monsters is suksesvol geamplifiseer en die volgorde is bepaal. Die mediaan-ouderdom was 2 maande (IQR: 2-4). Drie (9,7%) pas gediagnoseerde babas het opspoorbare SDRMs gehad. Van hierdie babas het een (33%) 'n nie-nukleosied tru-transkriptase-inhibitor (NNRTI) MIV SDRM (K103N) gehad en twee (67%) het proteaseinhibitor (PI) SDRMs (M46L en L23I).

Sewe-en-twintig (56,2%) EIT-babas het binne een maand van hul lewe nFLS gehad. Die mediaan ouderdom by die inskrywing vir babas was 2 dae [Reeks: 2-3], met 'n mediaan digitale druppel PCR (ddPCR) MIV-1 SGD-laadwaarde van 492 eenhede [IQR: 78-1246]. Sel-geassosieerde MIVMW-mutasies is opgespoor in 3/27 (11,1%) babas met ongeskonde MIV-1 SGD. Honderd en ses (41,3%) ongeskonde volgorde bepalings het ten minste een middelweerstandige mutasie gehad; van die 29,2% was NNRTI, 7,5% NRTI, 0,9% PI en geen

het INSTI geassosieerde mutasies gehad nie. Altesaam 151 (58,7%) defektiewe volgordes het ten minste een middelweerstamdige mutasie gehad; 31,8% was NNRTI, 15,2% NRTI, 5,3% PI en 15,5% INSTI was geassosieerde mutasies. 'n Hoër frekwensie van middelweerstandige mutasies is opgespoor in defektiewe MIV-1 SGD in vergelyking met ongeskonde MIV-1 SGD, alhoewel nie statisties beduidend nie (p = 0.14). Dieselfde MIVMW-mutasies is opgespoor in ongeskonde MIV-1 SGD en ook in die ooreenstemmende moeder plasma tydens die geboorte in drie van die babas. Geargiveerde MIV-1 SGD MIVMW-mutasies was optelbaar tydens 'n kliniese terugslag slegs een keer.

Ter afsluiting, ons rapporteer relatief hoë koerse van MIVMW-mutasies onder pas gediagnoseerde en vroegbehandelde babas met bekende en onbekende blootstelling aan PMTCT in Botswana. Daarom is die uitsluiting van volgordes met defekte is noodsaaklik tydens die interpretasie van MIVMW-mutasies van MIV-1 SGD, aangesien dit ware mutasies kan oorskat wat die toekomstige kliniese uitkomste by kinders kan beïnvloed.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank God Almighty for his unending grace and giving me the opportunity to do my post graduate studies.

I would like to extend my sincerest gratitude to the following people who have assisted me in preparation and submission of this thesis:

- 1. **Prof. Gert U VanZyl** at Stellenbosch University who has guided and mentored me throughout my project despite the interruptions due to COVID-19 travel restrictions and otherwise. He has provided excellent wisdom and advice which will remain with me throughout my career as a biomedical researcher. The inspiration Prof VanZyl has given me by showing his in-depth knowledge about HIV virology remains unparalleled.
- 2. **Dr Sikhulile Moyo** at the Botswana Harvard Partnership (BHP) who has been my mentor since my career debut, with guidance in data analysis, manuscript writing as well as general career advice which will forever be cherished and carried onto my next career associated endeavours. Dr Moyo has also been a great father figure to me with guiding wise words each time I would feel overwhelmed about my project and life in general.
- 3. **Dr Simani Gaseitsiwe** at the BHP who helped remove my training wheels when I was fresh out of University. He has been my mentor since 2015 and has since guided me in the path toward building my career in HIV and co-infection research. I would like to also thank Dr Simani for assisting me with funding opportunities from Fogarty and SANTHE without which I would not have been able to begin and get to finish my MSc.
- 4. The BHP Research laboratory team with their undying support across all my projects and assisting me with laboratory work, listening to my presentations and providing valuable feedback as well as helping me with my thesis write up. Special mention goes to Ms Ontlametse Bareng, Mrs Segomotso Maphorisa, Mr Mompati Mogwele, Ms Kwana Lechiile, Mrs Nametso Kelentse, Mr Patrick Mokgethi, Ms Bonolo Phinius, Ms Lynette Bhebhe.

- 5. I would like to also acknowledge the BHP management for allowing me the opportunity to do my MSc as well as allowing me to assist with COVID-19 testing which is now hitting our country hard since January 2021. Dr Joseph Makhema, Mr Terence Mohammed, Mr Comfort Maphorisa.
- 6. The fellow students at Stellenbosch University (Division of Medical Virology) who were always very kind and offering me their assistance including showing me around the laboratory and around Cape Town in general. Special thanks to Kirsten Veldsman, Shahieda Isaacs, Mary Grace Katusiime, Kayla Delaney, Carli Gordjin, Shalena Naidoo, Ian Botha.
- 7. The collaborators at the T.H Chan Harvard School of public health, Harvard Medical School, Ragon institute and the Brigham and Women's Hospital, who assisted me with the second AIM of my project via the EIT study. Special thanks to Dr Roger Shapiro for allowing me access to the EIT sequence data.
- 8. I would also like to acknowledge my funders; The Sub-Saharan African Network for TB/HIV Research Excellence (SANTHE), NIH Fogarty and the Poliomyelitis Research Foundation (PRF) without whom this project may have not been possible. SANTHE has provided me with funding since my graduate internship and continues to build my capacity as a biomedical researcher. Special thank you to Prof Thumbi Ndungu and Dr Dennis Chopera.
- 9. I would like to thank to my mother (Martha R. Moraka) and my sister (Ofentse B. Ntshabele) for their unending support in this very difficult road, they have supported me even when they did not understand what was fully going on and continue to do so every day.

- 10. I would like to thank my thesis advisory committee Dr Shahin Lockman, Prof Susan Engelbretcht and Prof Wolfgang Preiser who believed that my project is worth doing and guided me especially in the first lag.
- 11. A special thank you to Dr Catherine Koofhethile for her mentorship and guidance on my thesis.
- 12. Last but not least I would like to thank my friends who continue to be my support system throughout my MSc and career in general; Ms Itumeleng Mosweu, Ms Rorisang Oautlwa Mokgwathise and Mr Ogopotse Martin Koofhethile.

## DEDICATION

I would like to dedicate this thesis to my mother **Martha Rita Moraka** and my sister **Ofentse Beverley Ntshabele** who have raised me without any complaints and have always encouraged me to reach further than the stars. My mother as my role model, has always taught me that if you want anything in life you have to work hard for it her patience, encouragement and guidance will always be the best things I have learnt from her. My sister has always been an inspiration to me and always tells me to go for what I love regardless of how hard it may be.

I would also like to dedicate this thesis to two Angels who left this earth too early. My late young sister **Thatoyaone Faith Moraka** and my niece who never got the chance to cross into this world before going back to heaven in 2020, **Wamorena Ntshabele**.

## **RESEARCH OUTPUTS AND ACHIEVEMENTS**

Below are the research outputs and conferences attended during this MSc project.

## **Publications:**

Moraka N.O, Garcia-Broncano P, Hu Z, Ajibola G, Pretorius-Holme M, Maswabi K, Maphorisa C, Mohammed T, VanZyl G.U, Gaseitsiwe S, Kuritzkes D, Lichterfeld M, Moyo S and Shapiro R L, Patterns of pre-treatment drug resistance mutations of very early diagnosed and treated infants in Botswana. AIDS Journal [submitted, under review]

## **International Conference Attendance:** Oral Presentations:

Moraka N.O, MSc Progress Report: **Virologic characteristics of vertically transmitted HIV-1 strains in Botswana.** The Sub-Saharan African Network for TB/HIV Research Excellence (SANTHE) AGM 2020, Virtual.

Moraka N.O, MSc Proposal: Virologic characteristics of vertically transmitted HIV-1 strains in Botswana. The Sub-Saharan African Network for TB/HIV Research Excellence (SANTHE). Epidemiology meets Phylogenetics. Durban, South Africa.

### Poster Presentations:

Moraka N.O, Garcia-Broncano P, Hu Z, Ajibola G, Pretorius-Holme M, Maswabi K, Maphorisa C, Mohammed T, VanZyl G.U, Gaseitsiwe S, Kuritzkes D, Lichterfeld M, Moyo S and Shapiro R L. **HIV-1 drug resistance mutations in proviruses of early treated infants in Botswana.** IAS 2021, Virtual [submitted]

Natasha O. Moraka, Sikhulile Moyo, Ditiro Setlhare, Mompati Mogwele, Segomotso Maphorisa, Nametso Kelentse, Patrick Mokgethi, Julia Ngidi, Gert U. VanZyl, Simani Gaseitsiwe. **Prevalence of HIV-1 drug resistance mutations in newly diagnosed infants in Botswana.** AIDS2020, Virtual.

Natasha O. Moraka, Sikhulile Moyo, Ditiro Setlhare, Mompati Mogwele, Segomotso Maphorisa, Nametso Kelentse, Patrick Mokgethi, Julia Ngidi, Gert U. VanZyl, Simani Gaseitsiwe. **Prevalence of HIV-1 drug resistance mutations in newly diagnosed infants in Botswana.** Virology Africa, Cape Town, South Africa.

# Trainings:

Below is a list of trainings attended during this MSc project.

Training	Date & Venue	Capacity
CANTAM Network Scientific	6 September 2020, Virtual	Trainee
writing and publishing		
1st Virtual AAD 2020: Faculty of	26 – 27 August 2020, Virtual	Student/Delegate
Medicine & Health Sciences,		
Stellenbosch University		
H3ABioNet Introduction to	04 May – 31 July 2020, Virtual	Trainee
Bioinformatics Training 2020		
Epidemiology meets	9 - 13 September 2019, Durban,	Trainee
Phylogenetics	South Africa	
Introduction to Molecular	18-21 February 2019, Gaborone,	Trainee
phylogenetics and virus evolution	Botswana	

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

**3TC Lamivudine** 

A3G APOBEC3G

ABC abacavir

AIDS acquired Immunodeficiency syndrome

ART antiretroviral therapy

ARVs antiretroviral drugs

ATCC American Type Culture Collection

ADR acquired drug resistance

CAD cell associated DNA

CCR5 C-C chemokine receptor type 5

CD4 cluster of differentiation 4 (glycoprotein)

CDC Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

CNS central nervous system

CRFs circulating recombinant forms

CTL cytolytic T lymphocyte

d4T Stavudine

DBS dried blood spot

ddPCR droplet digital polymerase chain reaction

DNA deoxyribonucleic acid

DRM drug resistance mutations

DTG Dolutegravir

EDTA ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid

EFV Efavirenz

EID early infant diagnosis

EIT early infant treatment

FLIP Full-Length Individual Proviral Sequencing

GALT Gut-associated lymphoid tissue

HAART highly active antiretroviral therapy

HIV human Immunodeficiency virus

HIVDR HIV drug resistance

HLA human leukocyte allele

IN integrase

kb kilobases

KS Kaposi's sarcoma

LPV/r lopinavir-ritonavir

LLV low level viremia

LTNP long-term non progressors

LTR long terminal repeat

MHC major histocompatibility complex

MTCT Mother to child transmission

NK natural killer cells

NRTI nucleoside or nucleotide reverse transcriptase inhibitor

NNRTI non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor

NVP nevirapine

PBMC peripheral blood mononuclear cell

PCR polymerase chain reaction

PDR pre-treatment drug resistance

PHA phytohemagglutinin
PJP Pneumocystis jiroveci Pneumonia
PI protease Inhibitor
PR Protease
PLWHIV people living with HIV
PMTCT Prevention of mother-to-child transmission
RNA ribonucleic acid
RPP30 ribonuclease P/MRP Subunit P30
RT reverse transcriptase
SDRM surveillance drug resistance mutations
SGA single Genome Amplification
SSA sub-Saharan Africa
SIV simian immunodeficiency viruses
TB tuberculosis
TBE Tris/Borate/EDTA
TDR transmitted Drug Resistance
UNAIDS United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS
UTT universal test and treat
WHO World Health Organisation
WLWHIV women living with HIV
VF virologic Failure
VF virologic Failure VL viral load
VF virologic Failure VL viral load VOA viral outgrowth assay

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Title	Page
Figure 1	Phylogenetic relationship between human and primate lentiviruses	3
Figure 2	Structure of the HIV virion	4
Figure 3	HIV Genome Structure	5
Figure 4	The HIV Replication Cycle	7
Figure 5	Stages of HIV Infection and disease progression	10
Figure 6	Example of 1X TBE gel electrophoresis of the Nested PCR product (approx. 1.1kb)	38
Figure 7	Neighbour joining tree constructed from 32 HIV-1C pol (protease and reverse transcriptase) sequences using bootstrap values of 1000	40
Figure 8	Frequency of any drug resistance mutations between intact and defective HIV- 1 CAD of infants within 1 month of life	46

LIST	OF	TABLES
------	----	--------

Table	Title	Page
Table 1	HIV genes and proteins and their functions	5
Table 2	Antiretroviral Medications	
Table 3	RT-PCR (ATCC CDC Protocol)	27
Table 4	NESTED PCR (ATCC Protocol)	28
Table 5	Purification (ATCC CDC Protocol)	28
Table 6	Cycle Sequencing (ATCC CDC Protocol)	29
Table 7	Sequence Clean Up (ATCC CDC Protocol)	29
Table 8	ddPCR primer sequences	31
Table 9	General Mastermix for ddPCR (rare event)	31
Table 10	1st Round PCR Mastermix for SGA	32
Table 11	2 <sup>nd</sup> Round PCR Mastermix for SGA	33
Table 12	SGA Sequencing Primers	35
Table 13	Patient characteristics and detected surveillance drug resistance mutations in	39
	<18-month-old EID infants	
Table 14	Baseline demographics of EIT infants and mothers of infants at enrolment	41
Table 15	Drug resistance mutations detected in infant PBMCs within 1 month of life	44
	and maternal plasma at enrolment	

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

DECLARATION	ii
ENGLISH - ABSTRACT	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	vii
DEDICATION	x
RESEARCH OUTPUTS AND ACHIEVEMENTS	xi
Publications:	xi
International Conference Attendance:	xi
Trainings:	xii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xiii
LIST OF FIGURES	xvi
LIST OF TABLES	xvii
CHAPTER ONE	1
1.1 INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW	1
1.1.1The history and epidemiology of HIV	1
1.1.2 HIV classification	2
1.1.3 Structure of HIV	3
1.1.4 HIV genome	4
1.1.5 HIV pathogenesis	6
1.1.6 HIV treatment	11
1.1.7 Mother to child transmission (MTCT) of HIV	13
1.1.8 Prevention of Mother-To-Child Transmission (PMTCT) of HIV	14
1.1.9 Paediatric HIV	15
1.1.10 HIV drug resistance	17
1.2 STUDY RATIONALE/ SIGNIFICANCE OF THE STUDY	24
1.3 AIMS AND OBJECTIVES	25
CHAPTER TWO	26
2.0 METHODOLOGY	26
2.1 AIM 1 Methodology	26
2.1.1 Study Design and population (Early Infant Diagnosis Cohort)	26
2.1.2 Sample type and sample size	26
2.1.3 Methods, Data Collection, and Analysis	26
2.2 AIM 2 Methodology	29
2.2.1Study design and study population (Early Infant Treatment Cohort)	29

2.2.2 Sample processing	
2.2.3 Infant Droplet digital PCR and Next generation Sequencing from PBMCs	
2.2.4 Maternal HIV genotyping from plasma	35
2.2.5 HIV Drug Resistance Analysis	
2.2.6 Statistical Considerations	
CHAPTER THREE	
3.0 RESULTS	
3.1 AIM 1 RESULTS	
3.2 AIM 2 RESULTS	41
CHAPTER FOUR	48
4.0 DISCUSSION	48
4.1 CONCLUSION	53
REFERENCES	55
ADDENDA	82
Addendum 1	82

# **CHAPTER ONE**

## **1.1 INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW**

## 1.1.1The history and epidemiology of HIV

Cases describing the Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) were first reported in the early 1980s(1) where it was identified as an immunosuppressive syndrome that affected homosexual men(2) as well intravenous drug users.(3) By 1984, it was evident that other individuals were also at risk as the virus was also transmissible through heterosexual contact, blood products such as factor VIII for haemophiliacs, blood transfusion and mother to child transmission.(4, 5) It was called acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) as it is acquired, unlike cases of primary immunodeficiency, which are inherited. Although most of the first reported cases of AIDS were reported in the United States of America, the reality was that HIV/AIDS had already been widespread in many parts of the world.(4)

Currently, an estimated 38 million people are living with HIV (PLWHIV) globally, 1.8 million are estimated to be children below the age of 15 years according to Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS) estimates in 2019.(6) In 2019 there were 1.7 million new infections and 690 000 HIV related deaths worldwide. Similarly, the number of HIV related deaths in children in 2019 was estimated to be 95 000. East and Sub-Saharan Africa remain the most severely affected regions worldwide, contributing 20.7 million PLWHIV, 15.0 million of which are estimated to be on treatment.

Although Botswana is among the countries with a successful treatment program for people living with HIV, it remains one of the most affected countries in the world.(7) HIV-1 group M subtype C predominates in Botswana. The latest HIV survey carried out in Botswana revealed a prevalence of 18.5% people living with HIV above 1.5 years of age; with an annual incidence of 1.38%.(8) Within this population, 2.2% are infants below 18 months. Despite prevention mother to child transmission of HIV programs (PMTC), HIV positive infants in Botswana remain a national health problem with 9000 children less than 14 years of age living with HIV, 60% of which are receiving treatment.(9)

## **1.1.2 HIV classification**

HIV belongs to the genus Lentivirus (which means slow virus) included in the Retroviridae family and Orthoretrovirinae subfamily.(10) Retroviral infections have been associated with different disease manifestations in vertebrates including immune deficiencies and several malignancies, anaemia, and autoimmune diseases.(11, 12)

There are two types of HIV namely HIV-1 and HIV-2 which differ in genetic makeup and pathogenesis/virulence(13), a study has revealed that there is only 55% similarity in genetic makeup of the two HIV types.(14) HIV-1 is further divided into three groups namely the major (M), new (N) and outlier (O) groups.(14) Group M is further divided into ten different phylogenetically associated subtypes A, B, C, D, F, G, H, J, K. Recombination of different subtypes, when found in epidemiologically unlinked cases, indicating the circulation of inter-subtype recombinant lineages are referred to as circulating recombinant forms (CRFs).(14)

HIV has entered humans by transmission from a non-human primate host infected with simian immunodeficiency viruses (SIV) which infect non-human primates. Phylogenetic evidence from blood samples from humans and faecal samples from chimpanzees indicate that an SIV of *Pan troglodytes troglodytes* species of chimpanzee (SIV*cpz*) gave rise to HIV-1 infection in humans. Moreover, this chimpanzee species is found in Southern Cameroon and surrounding areas where most HIV-1 groups and the highest HIV diversity are found.(15, 16) The SIV of the sooty mangabey monkey (SIV*sm*) is most closely related to HIV-2 infection in humans and the putative source-species of HIV-2 cross-species transmission.(17) SIV appears to be non-pathogenic in some natural hosts that have coevolved with SIV, such as African green monkeys and sooty mangabeys whereas it causes immune suppression and AIDS in other species of non-human primates.(18, 19) Figure 1 below shows the phylogenetic relationship between HIV and SIV with other primate lentiviruses, indicating a probable link between zoonotic immunodeficiency causing retroviruses in primates and human HIV infection.(20)



**Figure 1:** Phylogenetic relationship between human and primate lentiviruses (Source: Kuiken, C., Foley, B., Hahn, B., Marx, P., McCutchan, F., Mellors, J. W., Mullins, J., Wolinsky, S. & amp; Korber, B.(1999). A compilation and analysis of nucleic acid and amino acid sequences. In Human Retroviruses and AIDS. Los Alamos, New Mexico: Theoretical Biology and Biophysics Group, Los Alamos National Laboratory. Public domain image obtained via Wikimedia Commons, <u>https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:HIV-SIV-phylogenetic-tree.svg</u>, current version dated 20 April 2008)

## **1.1.3 Structure of HIV**

The HIV virion (Figure 2) is spherical in shape of approximately 100nm in diameter.(21) The HIV virion is comprised of the envelope (*env*), which is an outer lipid bilayer made up of the host cell membrane, human leukocyte allele (HLA)/major histocompatibility complex (MHC) components, as well as a glycoprotein of 160 kD (gp160), which is responsible for binding and entry into host cell. The gp160 is cleaved into gp120 and gp41 post translation.(21, 22) The C-terminal subunit, gp41, which can be referred to as the transmembrane protein, contains a cytoplasmic domain which facilitates the conformational change which is necessary for fusion of the virion to the host cell.(22) The inside of gp41 is associated with the matrix protein p17. The N-terminal subunit, gp120, also known as the docking glycoprotein, is found outside the viral membrane and is divided into five conserved regions (C1-C5) combined with five variable regions (V1-V5).(22) The host receptor cluster of differentiation 4 (glycoprotein) (CD4) interacts with residues in the conserved regions of gp120 on either side of V4, and the

coreceptor C-C chemokine receptor type 5 (CCR5) interacts both with a GPGR/Q motif at the apex of the V3 loop and at its base.(21, 22)

The HIV virion has a cone shaped nucleocapsid core which is made up of the major core protein p24, this core surrounds two copies of the viral ribonucleic acid (RNA) covered by two smaller core proteins p6 and p7 as well as virally encoded enzymes reverse transcriptase (RT), protease (PR) and integrase (IN).(21)



Figure 2: Structure of the HIV virion (Source: US National Institute of Health (redrawn by en:User:CarlHenderson),PublicdomainimageobtainedviaWikimediaCommons,https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:HI-Virion-en.png, current version dated 4 April 2009)

## 1.1.4 HIV genome

The HIV genome is approximately 9.7 kilobases long single-stranded, positive-sense RNA.(22, 23) The genome has many open reading frames that code for a number of viral proteins which consist of (*gag*, *pol*, and *env*), regulatory genes (*tat*, and *rev*), and accessory genes (*vif*, *vpr*, *nef*, and *vpu*).(21, 22) Figure 3 below shows the HIV genome structure and Table 1 shows the different genes and their functions;



**Figure 3:** HIV Genome Structure (Source: Obtained from the WikiMedia Commons page for this image: Thomas Splettstoesser (<u>www.scistyle.com</u>), CC BY-SA 3.0 <<u>https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-sa/3.0</u>>, via Wikimedia Commons)

Proteins	Size (kDa)	Function	Abbreviation
	p24	Capsid (CA), structural protein	CA
Gag	p17	Matrix (MA) protein, myristoylated	MA
	p7	Nucleocapsid (NC) protein, helps in reverse transcription	NC
	<b>p</b> 6	Role in viral budding (L domain)	-
Polymerase	p66, p51	Reverse Transcription (RT): RNase H - inside core	RT
Protease	p10	Gag/Pol cleavage and maturation	PR
Integrase	p32	Viral cDNA integration	IN
Env	gp120	Envelope surface protein	SU
	gp41	Envelope transmembrane protein	ТМ
Tat	p14	Transactivation	Tat
Rev	p19	Regulation of viral mRNA expression	Rev
Nef	p27	Pleiotropic, can increase or decrease virus replication	Nef
Vif	p23	Promotes virion maturation and infectivity	Vif
Vpr	p15	Helps in virus replication, transactivation	Vpr
Vpu	p16	Helps in virus release, disrupts gp160:CD4 complexes	Vpu
Vpx	p15	Helps in entry and infectivity (Only in HIV-2 and SIV)	Vpx

**Table 1:** HIV genes and proteins and their functions (Adapted from Levy, 2007)

## 1.1.5 HIV pathogenesis

### 1.1.5.1 The HIV Life Cycle

The replication cycle of HIV occurs in several sequential stages. The first step during HIV infection is binding and fusion where the virus fuses with the CD4 cell assisted by the env protein with the capsid entering the cell. The binding of gp120 to the CD4 molecule causes conformational change which exposes the coreceptor binding site, a complex is formed between the three components leading to further change in the gp120 and gp41 molecules; this is followed by fusion of lipid bilayer on the host cell with the virus and injection of the viral core into the cell where the nucleocapsid is uncoated and released.(24) Following is the reverse transcription which forms double stranded deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) which is translocated to the nucleus and integrated into the host cell genome forming what is called a "provirus".(25) The next step involves transcription and translation of the viral genes from the provirus, leading to viral assembly where new viral particles are produced and bud out of the cell.(24) As the reverse transcriptase lacks proofreading ability, HIV replication has a high error rate and hence a high mutation rate. Although many mutations are deleterious for viral survival, a few may offer a survival advantage. The ability of HIV to rapidly evolve in response to pressures issued by the environment has given it the means of continual adaptation, thus it can avoid selective forces such as immune system responses and antiretroviral drug treatment. Figure 4 below shows a detailed diagram of the HIV replication cycle;





### 1.1.5.2 HIV latency and persistence

HIV is able to stay dormant and hidden where its genes remain integrated into the host genome, thus allowing it to persist even with treatment; this is the challenge faced with regards to eradication of HIV, the subset of HIV infected cells that remain dormant is called the "latent reservoir" and is established very early following HIV infection.(21, 26) Latent HIV has been observed in several cell types including but not limited to peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) such as monocytes/macrophages, dendritic cells as well as naïve and memory T-cells.(27, 28) The resting memory CD4+ T cells have been shown to be the major HIV reservoir as they have a half-life that goes up to 44 months, compared to only less than 6 hours for HIV circulating in plasma.(29) Following infection, HIV disseminates to the lymph nodes and later to the bloodstream; this facilitates the spread of the HIV-infected cells to different anatomical sites including the gastrointestinal tract, lymphoid tissues such as the spleen, thymus, the gut-

associated lymphoid tissue (GALT), lungs, liver, kidneys, the central nervous system CNS), and the bone marrow.(29, 30)

The expression and diversity of proviral HIV is different across cell and tissue reservoirs. The increase in frequency HIV infected cells differs through host regulatory processes including homeostatic proliferation or antigen driven proliferation. The decrease of such cells is also driven by mechanisms such as viral cytolysis and activation induced cell death.(31, 32) However, not all cells are able to express enough HIV viral protein to be recognized by the host immune system.(33) Some of these cells expressing low levels of recognizable viral proteins may exist in a quiescent state and hence viral decay of replication-competent HIV cell reservoir is very slow.(34)

The HIV reservoir also includes a widespread diversity of proviral sequences due to several factors including errors in the reverse transcription step of the HIV life cycle, high levels of recombination, APOBEC hypermutations, compartmentalization of the virus, viral quasispecies able to evade detection by host immune mechanisms as well as accumulation of HIVDR mutations.(34-36)

The measurement of the latent reservoir includes measurement of HIV DNA load, HIV gag p24 assays, measuring HIV RNA and sequencing of HIV RNA at limiting dilution, inducible HIV RNA/ HIV viral protein, as well as using quantitative viral outgrowth assays (QVOA/VOA).(34) The gold standard for measuring proviral HIV is the use of VOA, where CD4+ T-cells collected and stimulated with mitogen and then cultured together with phytohaemagglutinin (PHA) activated CD8-depleted PBMCs from HIV-seronegative individuals at limiting dilution, followed by measurement of p24 protein in the latency reversed cells.(37) A few modifications have been made to this assay to reduce the limitations of it being costly and that it requires high number of cells in order to get a suitable limit of detection, these modified assays also give more insight on true measurements of replication-competent HIV in reservoirs.(38-40)

#### 1.1.5.3 Stages of HIV infection and HIV disease progression

HIV infection in the host can generally be categorized into four different stages (Figure 5): primary infection, clinically asymptomatic stage, symptomatic HIV infection, and progression from HIV to AIDS.(41) Primary infection, also called seroconversion illness/acute primary infection, refers to the first two to four weeks of infection. The infected patients undergo

seroconversion; going from a state of being HIV free to a state of being HIV infected.(41) These seroconverting individuals exhibit flu like symptoms such as fever and sore throat. The viral load is very high in this stage due to high replication rates of HIV and since adaptive immune responses which limit viral replication take a few days to develop. People in this acute stage are highly infectious due to rapid viral replication; it persists until the body has created anti-HIV antibodies within 4-6 weeks of infection.(41) Following the acute stage, the viral replication slows down and reaches a plateau stage called "viral load set point."(22) The clinically asymptomatic stage of HIV infection is also known as the clinical latency stage, where the term latency refers to a period where the virus is present in an infected person without producing visible symptoms.(41) The duration of the asymptomatic phase is related to the viral load set point with higher viral load setpoint associated with faster progression. The virus continues replicating but at a much slower pace than in acute phase. The progression to the third stage is greatly reduced by ART. The clinically symptomatic stage is characterised by the low CD4+ cell counts and high viral load, it is observed when the infected individual's immune system continues to deteriorate due to HIV replication.(41) Furthermore, the CD4+ T cell counts are usually between 200 and 500 cells/mL and mild disease is mostly exhibited as worsening of symptoms such as developing herpes simplex disease, chronic skin conditions and recurrent diarrhoea.

The increase in opportunistic infections due to lowered immunity are the defining symptoms of AIDS. Some examples of the most common opportunistic infections include respiratory infections caused by *Pneumocystis jiroveci* pneumonia (PJP), tuberculosis (TB) and Kaposi's sarcoma (KS).(41) The diagram below (Figure 5) shows the relationship between CD4+ cell counts and viral load in the different stages of HIV infection.

When CD4+ cell counts reach the range of 50-200 cells/mL, the individual is considered to have advanced to AIDS. There are several factors that may affect the rate of HIV infection progressing to fully blown AIDS. These factors may include viral load and viral factors, age, co-infections, genetic variation, route of infection, host immunity, overall nutrition, pregnancy, and lifestyle (drug use).

In the absence of treatment, different individuals have different rates of disease progression. There are individuals who are termed rapid progressors, where development of AIDS is within 3 years of infection; intermediate progressors, individuals who exhibit slow AIDS development between 3 to 10 years after seroconversion; long-term non progressors (LTNPs), who are very rare and constitute about 0.5% of the entire HIV infected population and maintain low level viremia (LLV) and stable CD4 counts above 500copies/ml exceeding ten years. A subset of individuals is also able to maintain high CD4+ and CD8+ T-cell counts and undetectable viral loads while remaining therapy naïve, termed "elite/natural controllers".



**Figure 5:** Stages of HIV Infection and disease progression (Source: Jurema Oliveira. Public domain image obtained via Wikimedia Commons, https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Hiv-timecourse.png, current version dated 4 June 2011)

#### 1.1.5.4 Host defence against HIV

Following HIV infection, the human immune system usually develops antibodies to HIV within 3 months. The cytotoxic CD8+ T cells are also able to reduce the number of HIV infected cells through production of cytokines and chemokines with antiviral properties.(42) Similarly, neutrophils and natural killer (NK) cells also all have the ability to kill HIV infected cells through several mechanisms. There are some cellular restriction factors including the human cytidine deaminase APOBEC3G (A3G), tetherin and TRIM5α which are able to inhibit HIV.(43, 44) During reverse transcription, A3G deaminates dC to dU bases in the HIV cDNA negative sense strand and causes accumulation of G to A substitutions in the proviral positive-strand cDNA which in end disrupt transcription; tetherin prevents budding of new virions from

the cell by binding the host cell plasma membrane and the HIV viral envelope together; TRIM5 $\alpha$  disturbs the uncoating process before reverse transcription may occur.(44, 45) There are several host genetic defences against HIV. Some individuals of northern or central European ancestry have the delta32-CCR5 deletion, which is a 32 base pair deletion in the CCR5 gene (CCR5-delta32) which is located on chromosome 3 in humans; this deletion results in a non-functional CCR5 co-receptor and therefore immunity against infection by R5 tropic viruses.(46) Similarly polymorphisms in the CCR5 gene has been described in Africa, and may influence HIV CCR5 coreceptor binding.(47, 48)

# 1.1.6 HIV treatment

HIV does not have a cure. Before the availability of combination antiretroviral therapy in African settings, the only available options were prophylaxis or treatment of opportunistic infections. However, since combination antiretroviral drugs (ARVs) have become available this has become the mainstay of treatment. These drugs inhibit viral replication and allow at least partial recovery of the immune function. Antiretroviral therapy (ART) is the only way of preventing or partially reversing disease progression of HIV/AIDS. Treatment success is defined viral suppression (undetectable viral loads).(49) Antiretroviral therapy is also the most successful available biomedical intervention to reduce HIV transmission. A range of ARVs that are used as ART belong to six major drug classes: nucleoside and nucleotide reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NRTIs), non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NNRTIs), protease inhibitors (PIs), fusion inhibitors, integrase inhibitors and co-receptor binding inhibitors also known as entry inhibitors.(49) To date a combination of three of these drugs, known as highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART), have been used in order to target several genes at a time to slow down disease progression and also allow the immune system to recover and prevent opportunistic infections leading to AIDS.(49)

The mechanism of action of ARVs is to target several stages of the HIV life cycle to block replication. Drugs that limit entry target two steps attachment and fusion: CCR5 receptor antagonists and fusion inhibitors.(50) The CCR5 antagonists block viral attachment to the CD4+T-cell by targeting binding of the virus to the CCR5 -receptor.(51) The fusion inhibitors bind to the gp41 molecule and prevent the conformational change necessary for fusion with the host cell.(50, 51) The NRTI and NNRTI drugs interrupt the reverse transcription step of the

11

HIV life cycle; the NRTIs block reverse transcriptase (RT) activity competing with the natural substrate dNTP triphosphates and by acting as chain terminators in the synthesis of proviral DNA. The NNRTI do not compete with the natural substrate, but instead block the RT by binding to distinct sites disrupting the conformational change of its catalytic site.(49, 51)

Below is a table showing examples of ARVs with their abbreviations according to drug class;

NRTI	PIs	
Abacavir, ABC (Ziagen)	Atazanavir, ATV (Reyataz)	
Didanosine, ddl (Videx, Videx EC)	Darunavir, DRV (Prezista)	
Emtricitabine, FTC (Emtriva)	Fosamprenavir, FPV (Lexiva)	
Lamivudine, 3TC (Epivir)	Indinavir, IDV (Crixivan)	
Stavudine, d4T (Zerit)	Nelfinavir, NFV (Viracept)	
Tenofovir alafenamide, TAF (Descovy)	Ritonavir, RTV/r (Norvir)	
Tenofovir disoproxil Fumarate, TDF (Viread)	Saquinavir, SQV (Invirase)	
Zidovudine, AZT/ZDV (Retrovir)	Tipranavir, TPV (Aptivus)	
NNRTI	INSTIs	
Delavirdine, DLV (Rescriptor)	Bictegravir, BIC (Bictarvy)	
Efavirenz, EFV (Sustiva)	Dolutegravir, DTG (Tivicay)	
Etravirine, ETR (Intelence)	Elvitegravir, EVG (Vitekta)	
Nevirapine, NVP (Viramune, Viramune XR)	Raltegravir, RAL (Isentress)	
Rilpivirine, RPV (Edurant)		
Doravirine, DOR (Pifeltro)		
Fusion Inhibitor		
Enfuvirtide, ENF/T-20 (Fuzeon)		
Entry Inhibitors		
Maraviroc, MVC (Selzentry)		
Ibalizumab (Trogarzo)		

 Table 2: Antiretroviral Medications

Globally, there have been several attempts made at eliminating the detrimental effects of the HIV pandemic, one of the latest strategy was deployed by UNAIDS; commonly known as the "Treat All" strategy or the UNAIDS 90-90-90 goal/strategy.(52) This strategy was coined in 2014, the goals set here were that by the year 2020; 90% of all people living with HIV know their HIV status; 90% of people diagnosed with HIV be started on ART; and that 90% of all people who are on ART achieve viral suppression indicated by undetectable HIV viral load in their blood.

The Botswana National ART Programme, also known as the "Masa" programme, was implemented in 2002 and has successfully operated for the past 18 years, significantly reducing mortality rates caused by HIV-1 infection.(8, 53) With over 220,000 infected patients on ART and an estimated 87% coverage of those in need at the end of 2013, Botswana's citizens continue to receive free high-quality ART, care and support. Today, Botswana is among the first African countries to implement the treat all strategy and implement use of Dolutegravir (DTG) as part of first line therapy for all people living with HIV and is well within grasp of achieving the 90-90-90 goal with overall 70.2% (95% CI 67.5-73.0) of people living with HIV-infected exhibiting virological suppression, which is very close to the UNAIDS target of 73%.(54)

## 1.1.7 Mother to child transmission (MTCT) of HIV

HIV-1 transmission can occur through blood and body fluids; including blood transfusions, unsterile intravenous needles drug users, sexual intercourse, and mother-to-child transmission/vertical transmission.(55) The transmission of HIV can occur from a mother living with HIV to their child during gestation in the uterus, peripartum or post-partum during breastfeeding.(56) MTCT is the leading cause of paediatric HIV worldwide, constituting 90% of all child infections.

Without breastfeeding it is approximated that 60-70% of infected children become infected intrapartum (during delivery), the rest of the 30-40% are assumed to be in utero, in the last stages of pregnancy; infections in the first and second trimester are estimated to be lower than 5%.(57-60) The added risk of MTCT via breastfeeding has been estimated to be 15% and in some settings 40% of MTCT cases have been due to breastfeeding alone or mixed with formula feeding.

There are several risk factors for HIV MTCT(61); these include maternal health and HIV stage, maternal HIV viral load, the level of cell-free virus in genital secretions and cervical or vaginal HIV-DNA.(62-65) Chorioamnionitis, preterm delivery, low birth weight and premature rapture of membranes are some of the foetal and obstetric factors associated with HIV MTCT.(62, 65-67) Furthermore, maternal virus phenotype may increase risk of HIV transmission of viruses with high replicative capacity and cytopathogenicity.(66) Similarly, HIV-1 subtype C has been shown to be transmitted vertically above other subtypes.(67) Behavioural factors such as illicit drug use, unprotected sexual intercourse leading to sexually

transmitted infections, smoking during pregnancy have also shown to be high risk factors for HIV MTCT.

Some factors have been associated with reduction of HIV MTCT in the absence of ART; these include HIV-1 specific immune responses as well as innate immunity of both mother and child, including secretor leucocytes, cytokines and chemokines in bodily fluids such as saliva and breastmilk.(61, 68, 69)

Furthermore, HIV-specific maternal neutralizing antibodies, CD4+ T cell responses and cytotoxic T-lymphocyte (CTL) responses also reduce risk of transmission.(70) NK cells also have a role in natural host defence against HIV infected cells, have been demonstrated to be protective against MTCT of HIV.(71) Mode of delivery has been shown to be in favour of caesarean section before labour and instead of vaginal (natural) delivery despite maternal viral load as prolonged rapture of membranes is a risk factor for MTCT.(72)

## 1.1.8 Prevention of Mother-To-Child Transmission (PMTCT) of HIV

The fight against transmission of HIV between mothers and their infants has been at the forefront of eliminating HIV for many years. PMTCT has been implemented worldwide since the ACTG 076 ANRS 024 study in 1993 which revealed a 68% reduction in risk of perinatal transmission after giving mothers zidovudine (ZDV) from the 14-34<sup>th</sup> week of gestation, during labour and delivery. The infants were also given ZDV orally the first 6 weeks.

Currently PMTCT is administered in the form of combination ART where mothers are given a combination of drugs in which NNRTI or PI are is administered together with NRTIs(73). Several studies have revealed that ART started in pregnancy through 6 months of breastfeeding reduces MTCT to lows of 1%, thus allowing breastfeeding to be an option for lactating mothers living with HIV.(56, 73)

There has been an evolution of PMTCT programmes to meet several treatment strategies recommended by the World Health Organization (WHO) which have been implemented over the past years. These included Option A, where eligible (based on CD4 count) pregnant women were given Zidovudine (ZDV) from 14 weeks gestation, then a single dose of nevirapine (sdNVP) when beginning labour; these women were then given a combination of ZDV and Lamuvudine (3TC) until 1 week postpartum. In option A, the HIV-exposed infant was given

daily oral nevirapine (NVP) from birth until the end of breastfeeding.(74) In Option B, the criteria were implemented for women who were not eligible for ART where they were given a triple dose regimen from 14 weeks until the end of the breastfeeding period with daily oral doses of NVP or ZDV given to the HIV exposed infant for the first 6 weeks of life. Currently, the WHO recommends Option B+, where lifelong ART is given to pregnant women living with HIV (WLWHIV) regardless of CD4 count or clinical stage of the disease. Option B+ has also given most countries a good baseline for policy making and implementation with roll out of ART to the general public as in the context of "Treat all" or universal test and treat (UTT).(74)

Botswana was one of the first countries to implement PMTCT to all expecting WLWHIV since early 2000, with a coverage in the public sector above 95%, and mother-to-child transmission rates below 2%.(75)<sup>·</sup>(76) The current national HIV clinical care guidelines indicate that Botswana has implemented Option B+ for all pregnant WLWHIV and recommends that all be given FTC/TDF (Truvada) with DTG regardless of pregnancy stage. All exposed infants are given ZDV regardless of PMTCT exposure immediately after delivery within 72 hours.(76) Of note, there are no published estimated numbers of averted MTCT due to successful PMTCT in Botswana for the year 2020.

# **1.1.9 Paediatric HIV**

Despite tremendous efforts to reduce vertical (and horizontal) transmission of HIV, a subset of children is still living with HIV to date. Generally, children progress much faster to AIDS than adults, the majority of children develop symptoms within the first few months and these do not disappear as seen in adults.(77) The age at which vertically infected children progress to AIDS is bimodal, there are children who can control the virus for years and those who develop AIDS early within the first year of life; where if untreated most infants progress to AIDS or death(78, 79) Some of the most common signs and symptoms of paediatric AIDS include lymphadenopathy, splenomegaly, very chronic cough, persisting diarrhoea, infant tuberculosis as well as encephalopathy.(80-83) Moreover, the progression of disease in children slows down after 1 year and is relatively slow between 5 and 10 years of age. Studies have shown that 2% to 16% of children are also able to suppress HIV viral load and maintain stable CD4+ T cell counts without treatment; as LNTPs and elite controllers.(83) This bimodal progression is similar across Western and African regions, however, paediatric HIV associated mortality in

African settings (especially sub Saharan Africa) is much higher. A meta-analysis done in 2004 revealed mortality rates of 35.2% by one year of age and 52.5% by the age of two.(84)

Progression of HIV in infants has been shown to be influenced by several factors including timing of infection, maternal HIV stage during pregnancy, maternal CD4+ T cell count, maternal viral load and overall infant and maternal immunity; infants infected earlier in the uterus progress faster and have more severe symptoms.(81, 82)

Treatment options for children living with HIV have improved over the years. PMTCT programs have introduced an early infant diagnosis (EID) approach, where HIV exposed infants are screened for HIV within 6 weeks of life using polymerase chain reaction (PCR) assays from dried blood spot (DBS) samples. The current shift in treatment of these infants is very early ART initiation in order to not only improve their outcomes but to minimize viral reservoir development from an early age.(85, 86)

One of the most referenced cases which indicated the possible impact of very early initiation of ART on the viral reservoir is the case of the Mississippi baby, who received ART from as early as 30 hours after birth for 18 months, and later exhibited delayed HIV-1 viral rebound for 27 months after cessation of ART.(87) This child showed an initial steep decline in presence of short-lived virus-producing cells, indicating a rapid decay of the viral reservoir.

Paediatric HIV viral load suppression in resource limited settings such as sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) unfortunately remains challenging. A meta-analysis of 72 studies carried out in 2015 revealed that children less than 18 years in low- and middle-income countries has VL suppression rates ranging from 64.7% to 74.7% within 12 months.(88, 89) This was different from children in high income settings such as UK and Ireland who reported 92% suppression rate within 12 months of ART initiation.(90) Similarly, rates of VF among children in SSA are high, where approximately 64% of treatment experienced children and adolescents fail treatment.(91-93) A large percentage of children and adolescents have been shown to fail treatment in several SSA countries with VF rates up to 64% in Senegal in 2019, 51.6% in Togo in 2016 and 30.6% in Zimbabwe in 2015.(91-93)

The major causes of adverse virologic outcomes in children include poorly tolerable paediatric formulations (palatability, drug toxicity etc), dosing difficulties due to variable infant pharmacokinetics, changing body weight.(94) However, the major cause of VF in children is adherence, it may be caused by these factors as well as other psychosocial issues; lack of

adherence may lead to worsened outcomes including paediatric HIV drug resistance and thus VF and progression to AIDS.

## 1.1.10 HIV drug resistance

Generally, HIV-1 is characterized by its high genetic diversity as a result of high levels of viral replication together with the high level of mutations in its genome; this is caused by the inability of the RT to proofread when transcribing RNA into DNA during the HIV replication cycle. Therefore, this leads to presence of "quasispecies" within infected individuals; where many circulating viruses in the individuals are genetically related but distinct from one another.(95) The quasispecies which have adapted well to the host environment will survive better than those that have not; in the event where the environment changed, for example where there is introduction of ART, the quasispecies with mutations will hinder the effectiveness of the drugs.(95) Most of the transmitted viruses are those that have HIV drug resistance (HIVDR) mutations which do not severely affect the fitness, therefore most drugs used for ART have to have good "genetic barrier" which is the lowest threshold where ART drug resistance may develop.

Some NNRTIs such as nevirapine and NRTIs like efavirenz only require one non-synonymous mutation for emergence of pronounced phenotypic drug resistance, implying a low genetic barrier.(96, 97) However, drugs such as zidovudine (NRTI) and etravirine (NNRTI) development of drug resistance is slower as high level resistance usually require a few non-synonymous mutations.(97). For all boosted PIs there is high genetic barrier and these drugs need several mutations to be present in order to confer clinical drug resistance.(98, 99) First generation integrase inhibitors such as raltegravir have low genetic barrier as well but resistance toward second generation integrase inhibitors such as dolutegravir occurs very slowly or does not occur at all. It is also important to note that mutations selected during therapy with a particular drug may cause multi-drug resistance across the same drug class.(100, 101)

There are two types of HIV drug resistance. Resistance can be "acquired" (acquired drug resistance- ADR), or "transmitted" (transmitted drug resistance- TDR) from one person to the next. ADR occurs as a result of an evolutionary process that involves successive steps that include selection of pre-existing low frequency drug resistant variants with subsequent sequential mutations or recombination of different drug resistant variants and further selection
of the most resistant lineages, which occurs when there is ongoing viral replication in the presence of selective drug pressure. However, Pre-treatment Drug resistance (PDR) refers to drug resistance in individuals initiating ART irrespective of whether it is TDR or acquired as a result of prior (often undisclosed) ART exposure.

Vertically transmitted HIV drug resistance remains a major problem in treatment of infants who become infected from their mothers.(102,103) The use of antiretrovirals (ARVs) for treatment in mothers and as prophylaxis in new-borns for PMTCT may drive the development of HIVDR in infants infected with HIV, either when drug resistant variants are being transmitted from the mother or arise due to selection pressure in the infant after transmission.(103) Women failing ART during pregnancy are at higher risk of transmitting HIVDR strains to their unborn infants. Furthermore, it has been shown that children are twice more likely to experience VF than adults with heterosexually transmitted HIV-1 after 5 years on ART.(104-106)

The presence of HIVDR strains in naïve populations threatens the effectiveness of ART, and TDR increases with the greater coverage of ART. There has been a reported 34-99% resistance level reported in children failing first and second line treatment containing NNRTI and NRTI regimens thus further limiting treatment options for this population(105); therefore, since 2013 the WHO has recommended use of PI (lopinavir-ritonavir - LPV/r) based ART regimens for children less than 3 years of age, encouraging phase out of NNRTI use with introduction of DTG as part of first line PMTCT.(107, 108)

Previous studies have reported TDR levels ranging from 0% to high rates of 33.3% resistance to NNRTIs, 16.6% resistance to NRTIs and 18.2% to protease inhibitors (PIs) in infants with perinatally acquired HIV-1 infection.(102)·(109) In SSA, a meta-analysis including data from 13 different countries, reported a pooled PDR prevalence of 42.7% among PMTCT-exposed children and 12.7% among PMTCT-unexposed children in 2016.(109)

Currently the WHO reports that in SSA, newly diagnosed infants are prone to resistance to efavirenz as well as nevirapine and the levels of PDR to NRTIs in this population (with or without PMTCT exposure data) are greater than 10% among some countries including Eswatini, South Africa, Malawi, Togo, Mozambique, Nigeria, Cameroon and Uganda.(107) PDR to abacavir and lamivudine was also high in a few of these SSA countries. To our knowledge, the prevalence of HIVDR mutations among HIV infants in Botswana has not been reported. Moreover, HIV treatment guidelines for ARV in paediatric infection recommend

HIVDR genotyping prior to initiation of ART, however in resource limited countries this may not be routinely done. In Botswana, the HIV clinical care guidelines indicate that infants above 1 month of age be started on a PI containing regimen, however, HIVDR genotyping is only done when the infant fails the first line regimen.

Other factors that contribute to HIVDR include poor treatment adherence, where interruptions in taking ART may lead to low concentration of ARVs allowing HIV to replicate more freely and produce more diverse quasispecies. Poor absorption may also lead to development of drug resistance, sometimes this is aided by drug toxicity and illnesses caused by side effects such as vomiting and diarrhoea in patients receiving ART. Another factor is varying pharmacokinetics, which means the extent at which a drug is absorbed, broken down and removed from the body. Drug-drug interactions in the body may cause complications in drug absorption; for example, the combination of NRTI tenofovir and PI atazanavir inhibits the absorption of atazanavir in the blood and thus a booster such as ritonavir is needed to boost atazanavir in the bloodstream. Some programmatic factors also exist at population level that drive the emergence and persistence of HIVDR; these include drug stock-outs and poor drug supply chain and management, especially in low-middle income settings.

## 1.1.11 HIV drug resistance Testing

The presence of HIVDR mutations in some individuals may be detected by genotypic or phenotypic drug resistance testing.

Genotypic assays are used to detect the presence of specific HIVDR mutations in specific HIV genes. There are several definitions for mutations that confer resistance to HIV drugs, usually these definitions include the following conditions; 1) the mutation confers a level of phenotypic resistance in cells when it is introduced by site-directed mutagenesis into a drug-sensitive strain of HIV in vitro, 2) the mutation is selected by serial in vitro passage of the virus in the presence of a specific antiretroviral drug with increasing observed phenotypic resistance and 3) mutations appear in samples from individuals with virologic failure during clinical therapy. Briefly, genotyping involves sequencing specific HIV gene regions and comparing the sequences to a reference strain. The sequencing involves conversion of HIV RNA to cDNA (in cases of sequencing cell free virus) followed by amplification through PCR where the DNA sample is combined with a master mix containing DNA polymerase enzyme, primers specific

for the gene target, deoxyribonucleotide triphosphate (dNTPs) and buffers in a thermocycler and subjected to a series of temperature changes that lead DNA to denaturation, primer binding/annealing and then the amplification/elongation of the target gene of each DNA strand; this is repeated several times until the desired copy number is achieved and then sequencing can be done.(110) When using the classic Sanger sequencing method, where instead of dNTPs, a mixture of cellular dNTPs and low concentration ddNTP are added which terminate the chain elongation amplification step due to the lack of a 3' OH group, when they are randomly incorporated. This results in multiple strands with variable length which are separated using gel electrophoresis; in the case of automated Sanger sequencing each different ddNTP (A.T, G or C) is marked with a different fluorophore. Capillary gel electrophoresis allows the separation of stands by a length difference of a single base with each strand represented by the colour of the fluorescent ddNTP.(110) The sequence of fluorescence therefore represents the order of nucleotides in the sequence and is recorded as an electropherogram. There are several software packages available that can translate electropherogram data into a DNA sequences that shows the average sequence end product. The end product of Sanger sequencing is an average/aggregate of all sequences produced that will form what is known as a "consensus" sequence. This consensus sequence is then translated into its corresponding amino acid sequence which is then compared with the sequence of a wild-type consensus wild-type amino acid sequence. The differences observed in the test sequence and the reference generate a list of mutations which are reported using the one-letter code for the wild-type reference amino acid, followed by the amino acid position, followed by the one-letter code for the amino acid mutation found in the sequence(111), an example using reverse transcriptase position 184 is that rather than having methionine (M) at this position, there is a valine (V) and this is annotated as "M184V". When there is a mixture of resistant or wild-type variants as major populations (>20%) in the sample, different amino acid substitutions are represented by showing both variants for example "M184/M/V"(111). There are a few commercially available sanger sequencing HIV genotyping kits used in clinical settings, the most commonly used are the ViroSeq <sup>TM</sup> HIV-1 genotyping system (ViroSeq; Abbott GmbH, Wiesbaden, Germany) , the TruGene HIV-1 genotyping kit (TruGene; Siemens Healthcare Diagnos-tics GmbH, Eschborn, Germany) as well as the ATCC® HIV-1 Drug Resistance Genotyping Kit developed American Type Culture Collection (ATCC), Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and Thermo Fischer Scientific.(112-114) These assays use plasma, whole blood, and DBS samples. However, several "in-house" assays have also been used for genotyping, especially in research settings.

Recent advances have been made to sequencing protocols and there are new next generation sequencing (NGS) assays and platforms which can produce many short reads of every sequence simultaneously, bioinformatic tools are then used to analyse and to combine these fragments by comparing these reads to the reference sequence.(115) The use of NGS is particularly better than Sanger sequencing as these assays are able to sensitively detect even low abundance variants that are present at frequencies below the minimum threshold of detection using Sanger sequencing, these variants are detected in low frequencies as low as <1% of the viral population; termed minor variants.(116, 117) It has been observed that HIV minor variants may be selected in future and form the predominant pool of circulating variants; although the impact of these variants is still under debate.(116, 118) Only a few NGS assays are used in clinical settings.(119-121) Of note, through massive parallel sequencing of multiple sections across a genome, NGS can also be used for more efficient sequencing of whole genomes.(115) Recently with the development of novel long read-length third generation sequencing, it has now become possible to sequence whole viral genomes in one read. However, the disadvantage of NGS sequencing is its impracticality in low-income countries due to high input costs of most platforms and the requirement for special knowledge of bioinformatics to clearly retrieve accurate data from the sequence data; thus, Sanger sequencing remains the gold standard in clinical care.(112, 113)

Phenotypic resistance assays are conducted to measure the extent to which viral replication is disrupted/inhibited by a specific antiretroviral drug. This is done using recombinant virus assays (RVAs) where the key viral gene sequences are inserted into a reference strain of HIV. These RVAs are grown in the presence of different concentrations of the target drug and subjected to measurements of fold-change in a patient's virus and response to treatment while taking account of mutations present with fold-change in drug susceptibility. The measure of the response is usually represented by the drug concentration that inhibits 50% of viral replication, this is known as the inhibitory coefficient IC<sub>50</sub>.(122, 123)

HIV latent reservoirs may harbour archived HIVDR mutations which may not be detectable when using standard Sanger sequencing from plasma. The latent reservoir has a subset of cells that have genome defective proviruses which have several genetic alterations that may include APOBEG G-to-A hypermutations, small insertions/deletions (indels) that disrupt open reading frames, and large internal deletions in the terminus of the gene sequences.(37, 124, 125) It is important to note that although about 88% of proviruses are considered to be defective, the clonal expansion of the virally infected cells may harbour intact cell associated DNA (CAD)

that may in future re-start production of new infectious virions.(126) Most proviral sequencing using NGS platforms have migrated to single genome amplification/sequencing (SGS/SGA), which uses Poisson statistics to dilute a template to an endpoint where 30% of all replicates are assumed to have 80% chance that amplification is a result of a single genome cDNA molecule.(127)

The use of NGS to determine HIVDR mutations in HIV-1 CAD has assisted in the initial detection of transmitted drug resistance (TDR) as the viral reservoir is established very early after infection.(128) Similarly for treatment naïve patients, the use of cell associated DNA as a template for HIVDR genotyping has revealed significantly higher rates of mutations in DNA than in plasma RNA; however the opposite observation is made in treatment experienced adults.(129) Some studies have shown that the HIVDR mutations observed in HIV-1 CAD sequences may lead to future virologic failure thus implicating treatment options for patients even during suppressive ART.(130, 131)

The sequencing of HIV CAD has evolved over the years, initial attempts were able to get more insight on reservoir maintenance and distribution.(132, 133) However, most assays were unable to determine the virus replication capacity due to sequencing of only sub-genomic regions thus missing viruses that have large deletions within their primer binding sites.(134) Similarly, these assays were unable to differentiate between the intact viruses and the defective "graveyard", overestimating the size of the fully replication-competent reservoir.(134)

Near full-length HIV-1 proviral sequencing assays have since been developed using amplification of sub-genomic regions via Sanger sequencing followed by assembly to get the much-needed differentiation of intact or defective HIV-1 CAD.(37, 126) Because this method had several limitations including cumbersome use of multiple primers which often had mismatches to target genome regions, further development of even more sensitive assays that use NGS sequencing for the same aim have been employed including the Full-Length Individual Proviral Sequencing (FLIPS) assay.(135) The FLIPS is used to amplify and sequence near full-length (intact or defective) HIV-1 CAD limiting the number of primers used and thus decreasing capturing CAD sequences that have unintentional introduction of defects into their viral sequence. The assay is performed in 6 steps: "1) lysis of HIV-1 infected cells, 2) amplification of single HIV-1 CAD via nested PCR performed at limiting dilution using primers specific for the highly conserved HIV-1 5' and 3' U5 LTR region, 3) purification and quantification of amplified products, 4) library preparation of amplified CAD for NGS, 5)

NGS, and 6) de novo assembly of sequenced HIV-1 CAD to obtain contigs of each individual HIV-1 CAD sequence.(128-131, 135)Another similar assay, matched integration site and proviral sequencing (MIP-Seq), has been developed to allow for more precise assessment of proviruses and their corresponding chromosomal integration sites.(136)<sup>(34)</sup>

There are a few commercially available assays for NGS genotyping from PBMCs, these include the GenoSure Archive® test from Monogram Biosciences. This assay was designed to provide HIVDR data for patients with undetectable viral loads, which are difficult to test using standard genotyping methods. The GenoSure assay provides a list of "archived" mutations and gives information on susceptibility of the proviral strains to different ARV drugs. It is important to note that this assay does not give information on the intactness of the proviruses being genotyped.

Recently the WHO has recommended that infants being screened for HIV in EID programmes also be screened for SDRMs.(137) In this approach the RT, PR and IN regions of the HIV-1 *pol* gene are to be sequenced using Sanger sequencing methods from residual DBS samples. The WHO recommends that DBS samples be stored at room temperature for less than 14 days after collection where they are then processed for genotyping or stored at -20°C or below for long term use. DBS sample storage (temperature and humidity) is imperative for sequencing success, some studies have shown that storage of DBS specimens at high humidity and temperature reduced their amplification and sequencing success.(138-140) The use of DBS samples for HIV genotyping has been proven to be efficient and cost effective especially in low-middle income settings where there is lack of infrastructure for collection and transportation of blood, plasma, or serum samples.(141)

Although DBS are cost effective and good specimens to collect in infants, they have proven to be difficult in production of good quality full length sequences using Sanger based methods; furthermore, due to low volume of blood specimen, sequences from DBS have shown to be as good as plasma sequences using NGS based methods for proviral DNA sequencing.(142) However, these sequences are not able to yield information on proviral replication competent viruses especially in settings of low proviral load.(143) Therefore, the use of HIV DNA from other reservoir sites such as PBMCs (144, 145) may also be an option for screening for HIVDR in newly diagnosed infants, this may also give better insights on regimen choice for infants which are already severely limited.

## **1.2 STUDY RATIONALE/ SIGNIFICANCE OF THE STUDY**

Some of the factors associated with HIV MTCT in high PMTCT coverage settings such as Botswana include: late presentation and delayed ART initiation during pregnancy, inadequate adherence to ART, and infection with drug resistant HIV strains. The children who become infected, especially after PMTCT failure, are at a particular risk of HIV drug resistance (HIVDR) as a result of exposure to antiretroviral drugs administered to the mother and infant.

Despite the major success of combination ART in suppressing viral replication and preventing disease progression, it is unable to eradicate HIV-1 infection. There are limited ARVs which are specifically formulated for the HIV infected paediatric population. Regardless of evidence that lopinavir/ritonavir based antiretroviral therapy regimens are more durable in children than non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor-based regimens, the poor tolerability of protease inhibitor liquid formulations, complicates adherence. Furthermore, due to a high risk of toxicity, lopinavir is contraindicated during the first two weeks of life or until a prematurely born child reaches a corrected age of 42 weeks. These challenges with regimen tolerability and the requirement for life-long therapy increase the risks for development of drug resistance. Surveillance of possible HIVDR is necessary to ensure that regimens that are recommended for children have a low risk of treatment failure. Although data has been shown in South African paediatric populations, revealing high percentages of NNRTI drug resistance, the patterns of HIVDR in infants with or without maternal PMTCT history have not been described in the Botswana paediatric population.

Furthermore, there is strong evidence of persistence of replication-competent viruses in different anatomical sites (reservoirs) of prolonged ART in adults. Several studies have shown a sharp initial decline in HIV reservoirs in children who are initiated early on ART, especially in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs). The general diversity and evolution of viral reservoirs in infants has been assessed in very few studies, including in Botswana, which illustrate that early treatment generally reduces the size of the reservoir and improves HIV-1– specific T cell response with reduction of abnormal T cell immune activation. Recently, the use of single-genome near full-length proviral sequencing has allowed characterization of the evolution of proviral reservoir cells in great detail. This technique can distinguish the small proportion of genome-intact proviruses in CAD from the much larger number of defective proviruses, which are typically regarded as fossils of the replicative history of HIV-1 in a given patient, and not as an active viral reservoir. Single-genome near full-length proviral sequencing has near full-length proviral sequencing has an active viral reservoir cells.

therefore provides for a possibility to evaluate antiretroviral HIVDR mutations that selectively occur in genome-intact CAD.

## **1.3 AIMS AND OBJECTIVES**

## MAIN AIM

To understand the patterns of HIV drug resistance in early diagnosed infants in Botswana.

## **SPECIFIC OBJECTIVES**

1. To describe and characterize surveillance drug resistance mutations (SDRMs) from dried blood spot (DBS) samples in early diagnosed <18-month-old infants in Botswana.

2. To investigate the prevalence and role of HIV associated drug resistant mutations in intact versus defective HIV-1 cell associated DNA (CAD) of early treated <18-month-old infants.

# **CHAPTER TWO**

## 2.0 METHODOLOGY

## 2.1 AIM 1 Methodology

**AIM 1:** To describe and characterize surveillance drug resistance mutations (SDRMs) from dried blood spot (DBS) samples in early diagnosed <18-month-old infants in Botswana.

### 2.1.1 Study Design and population (Early Infant Diagnosis Cohort)

For the first aim of this study, samples from the Botswana early infant diagnosis (EID) program were used. The EID program screens for HIV in HIV exposed infants within 6 weeks of birth using qualitative real time PCR from dried blood spot (DBS) samples. For this study, these samples were collected in a retrospective cross-sectional approach, selected by consecutive census selection approach (selecting any consecutively available samples by date of collection until we reached the target sample size) to determine HIV-1 drug resistance in children prior to initiation of combination antiretroviral therapy.

### 2.1.2 Sample type and sample size

Dried blood spot (DBS) samples from <18-month-old HIV positive children who were diagnosed as part of the Botswana public sector HIV infant diagnosis program have been collected from January 2016; samples were stored at -20 degrees Celsius. A total of 78 samples were successfully retrieved and stored at -20 degrees Celsius for testing.

#### 2.1.3 Methods, Data Collection, and Analysis

### 2.1.3.1 Total Nucleic Acid (TNA) Extraction

One spot from each of the DBS samples was diluted in 500µL of Nuclisens Lysis Buffer and moderately spun for about 4 hours at room temperature. This was followed by extraction using the NucliSENS® easyMag® Extraction (biomérieux, Marcy l'Etoile, France).

## 2.1.3.2 Amplification and Sequencing

The protease and reverse transcriptase regions were amplified and sequenced using the ATCC HIV-1 Drug Resistance Genotyping kits (method below) and big dye chemistry. HIV *pol* amplicons were sequenced using a 16 capillary 3130 XL ABI Prism Genetic Analyzer sequencer (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, Canada). Sequencher version 5.0 premier DNA software were used to edit raw chromatograms manually and form fasta contigs. Bidirectional sequences that span the pro-RT and integrase regions were then analyzed for the presence of HIVDR mutations to all drug class regimens using the Stanford HIV Drug Resistance database for analysis (hivdb.stanford.edu). SDRMs were also assessed using the Calculated Population Resistance program (http://cpr.stanford.edu/cpr.cgi) from Stanford. A neighbour joining tree was constructed to check for relatedness and contamination using Mega version 7.0 software with1000 bootstrap replicates.

Table 3: RT-PCR (ATCC Protocol)			
	Volume		
<u>1. Master mix</u>	<u>1 rxn</u>	<u>12 rxns</u>	_
RT-PCR Master Mix	19.5µL	234 μL	
SuperScript <sup>TM</sup> III One-Step RT-PCR with Platinum <sup>TM</sup> Taq High Fidelity Enzyme Template volume <b>Total Reaction volume</b>	0.5μL 5μL <b>25μL</b>	6μL	
2. Cycling conditions			
2. Cycling conditions Step	Temperature	Time	Cycles
2. Cycling conditions Step Reverse transcription	<u>Temperature</u> 50°C	<u>Time</u> 45 minutes	<u>Cycles</u> 1
2. Cycling conditions Step Reverse transcription Enzyme inactivation	<u>Temperature</u> 50°C 94°C	Time 45 minutes 2 minutes	Cycles 1 1
2. Cycling conditions <u>Step</u> Reverse transcription Enzyme inactivation Denature	<u>Temperature</u> 50°C 94°C 94°C	<u>Time</u> 45 minutes 2 minutes 15 seconds	<u>Cycles</u> 1 1 40
2. Cycling conditions Step Reverse transcription Enzyme inactivation Denature Anneal	<u>Temperature</u> 50°C 94°C 94°C 50°C	Time 45 minutes 2 minutes 15 seconds 20 seconds	<u>Cycles</u> 1 1 40 40
2. Cycling conditions Step Reverse transcription Enzyme inactivation Denature Anneal Extend	<u>Temperature</u> 50°C 94°C 94°C 50°C 72°C	Time 45 minutes 2 minutes 15 seconds 20 seconds 2 minutes	<u>Cycles</u> 1 1 40 40 40
2. Cycling conditions Step Reverse transcription Enzyme inactivation Denature Anneal Extend Final extension	Temperature           50°C           94°C           94°C           50°C           72°C           72°C	Time 45 minutes 2 minutes 15 seconds 20 seconds 2 minutes 10 minutes	<u>Cycles</u> 1 1 40 40 40 1

Table 4: NESTED PCR (ATCC Protocol)			
1. Master mix	Volume		
	<u>1 rxn</u>	<u>12 rxns</u>	
Nested PCR Master Mix	47.5 μL	570 μL	
AmpliTaq Gold™ LD DNA Polymerase	0.5 μL	6 µL	
Template volume	2 μL		
Total Reaction volume	50 μL		
2. Cycling conditions			
<u>Step</u>	<u>Temperature</u>	<u>Time</u>	<b>Cycles</b>
Initial denaturation	94°C	4 minutes	1
Denature	94°C	15 seconds	40
Anneal	55°C	20 seconds	40
Extend	72°C	2 minutes	40
Final extension	72°C	10 minutes	1
Hold	4°C	Max 18hrs	

Table 5: Purification (ATC)	C Protocol)		
1. Master mix		Volume	
ExoSAP-IT <sup>™</sup> PCR Product	Cleanup Reagent	4 μL	
Nested PCR product		10 µL	
<b>Total Reaction Volume</b>		14 μL	
2. Cycling conditions Step	Temperature	Time	_
Digest	37°C	15 minutes	
Heat deactivation	80°C	15 minutes	
Hold	4°C	Hold	
		1	

T	able 6: Cycle Sequencing (A	TCC Protocol)		
1. F Pt T	Master mix 1, F2, F3, R1, R2, R3 Sequen urified nested PCR product otal Reaction Volume	cing Mixes	<b>Volume</b> 18 μL 2 μL <b>20 μL</b>	
p	GEM Sequencing Control		20 µL	
2.	Cycling conditions			
1	Step	Temperature	Time	Cycles
I	Denature	96°C	10 seconds	
	Anneal	50°C	5 seconds	25
	Extend	60°C	4 minutes	

Table 7: Sequence Clean Up (ATCC Protocol)	
1. Master mix	Volume per 96 well plate
SAM <sup>™</sup> solution	9.9 mL
BigDye Xterminator Solution	2.2 mL
Total Reaction Volume	12.1 mL

## 2.2 AIM 2 Methodology

**AIM 2:** To investigate the prevalence and role of HIV associated drug resistant mutations in intact versus defective pro-viruses of early treated <18-month-old infants.

## 2.2.1 Study design and study population (Early Infant Treatment Cohort)

HIV-exposed infants <96 hours of age were screened for HIV in the Gaborone and Francistown regions of Botswana as part of the Botswana Harvard Partnership early infant treatment (EIT) Study (ClinicalTrials.gov NCT02369406). EIT study has been described elsewhere.(146) Briefly, participants were recruited during pregnancy from five hospital maternity wards (Princess Marina Hospital in Gaborone, Scottish Livingstone Hospital in Molepolole, Deborah Reteif Memorial Hospital in Mochudi, Nyangabgwe Referral Hospital in Francistown, and

Selebi Phikwe Government Hospital in Selebi Phikwe), and in surrounding maternity clinics. Participants were enrolled if mother/guardian was 18 years of age and above, able to give informed consent, gestational age at birth  $\geq$ 35 weeks, infant birth weight of  $\geq$ 2000g and infant age <96 hours after birth. Participants initiated antiretroviral therapy (ART) within 7 days after birth and were eligible for ART through the Botswana government programme (which provides ART for pregnant or breastfeeding citizens with HIV infection regardless of CD4 cell count).

The study was approved by the by ethical review boards in Botswana (Health Research Development Committee) and Boston (Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health Office of Human Research Administration).

#### 2.2.2 Sample processing

Blood samples from neonates and infants were collected using venipuncture; samples from adults were obtained by venipuncture. Viable PBMCs were isolated and cryopreserved using standard Ficoll-Paque density gradient centrifugation following the ACTG/IMPAACT Cross-network PBMC procedures.(147)

### 2.2.3 Infant Droplet digital PCR and Next Generation Sequencing from PBMCs

PBMCs were subjected to DNA extraction using commercial kits (QIAGEN All Prep DNA/RNA Mini Kit or QIAGEN DNeasy kit) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Total HIV-1 DNA was amplified using the QX100 Droplet Digital PCR System (ddPCR; Bio-Rad) using primers and probes described previously(148) (sequences shown in Table 8 below) [127– base pair (bp) 5'-LTR–gag amplicon; coordinates 684 to 810 in HIV-1 reference strain HXB2] and normalized to the RPP30 gene. Table 8 below shows primer sequences with HXB2 coordinates.

**Table 8:** ddPCR primer sequences

	Sequence	HXB2 coordinate s
HIV DNA		
(LTRgag)		
Forward Primer	5'-TCTCGACGCAGGACTCG	684-700
<b>Reverse Primer</b>	5'-TACTGACGCTCTCGCACC	793-810
Probe	5'-/56- FAM/CTCTCTCCT/ZEN/TCTAGCCTC/31ABkFQ/	772-789
Reference Gene (RPP30)		
Forward Primer	GAT TTG GAC CTG CGA GCG	NA
<b>Reverse Primer</b>	GCG GCT GTC TCC ACA AGT	NA
Probe	/56-FAM/CTGACCTGA/ZEN/AGGCTCT/31ABkFQ/	NA

HIV DNA, human immunodeficiency virus deoxyribonucleic acid; LTR, long terminal repeat; RPP30, ribonuclease P/MRP Subunit P30; ZEN, a dark quencher used to reduce background fluorescence and increase signal by emitting heat instead of light, allowing it to be used with multiple reporter dyes; 31ABkFQ, 3' lowa Black® FQ quencher

Briefly, HIV LTR-gag/RPP30 mastermix was made according to the mastermix template (Table 9) for the number of wells needed + 2 wells.

Table 9: General Mastermix for ddPCR (rare event)		
Mastermix	Volume	GAPDH
ddPCR supermix 2X	11µL	11µL
Forward primer 20µM	1µL	1µL
Reverse primer 20µM	1µL	1µL
Probe 20 µM	0.35µL	0.35µL
H <sub>2</sub> O	5.65µL	7.65µL
Total	19µL	21µL

 $19\mu$ L of HIVgag (for the target samples) or  $21\mu$ L RPP30 (for the reference) were added to the mastermix to a well in regular 96 well PCR plate while making sure there is enough mastermix for replicates for negative control (water), positive control (8e5 cell line(149), and samples. Wells with mastermix were covered and vortexed followed by a quick spin on the eppendorf, then  $3\mu$ L of DNA samples were added in HIVgag mastermix wells and  $1\mu$ L of (1:100) in RPP30 mastermix wells (22 $\mu$ L total volume). Very slowly, 20 $\mu$ L of each column of the 96 well plate that has sample and mastermix were transferred into a ddPCR droplet cassette (small, middle wells) using electronic multichannel.  $70\mu$ L of droplet generation oil was transferred into the bottom wells of cassette using sterile basin and manual multichannel for each cassette. The cassette and gasket were put onto ddPCR droplet generator. Once droplets generated, droplets were very slowly transferred from top well of the cassette to eppendorf 96 well PCR plate.

Plates were then placed in C1000 Touch thermocycler ASAP, because droplet generation is time sensitive before PCR, and run on the following protocol.

95°C 10 min
 95°C 30 sec
 60°C 1 min
 \*repeat steps 2-3 45 times
 98°C 10 min

After PCR program, droplets are stable at 4C

Plates were then transferred to ddPCR droplet reader and set up a new run on Quantasoft program on attached laptop. Quantasoft software was set to RED (rare event detection), ddPCR supermix for probes on supermix and to measure FAM in channel 1 and VIC in channel 2.

For single genome amplification (SGA),  $1^{st}$  PCR and  $2^{nd}$  PCR mastermix (Invitrogen Platinum Taq #11304-029) were made according to the mastermix template for the number of wells you needed + 2 wells as shown below:

Table 10: 1st Round PCR Mastermix for SGA		
Mastermix 1 <sup>st</sup> PCR	$Vol(\mu L)/rxn$	Final []
10xBuffer	2	1x
$MgSO_4$ (50mM)	0.8	2mM

dNTP (10mM)	0.4	0.2mM
Forward primer (20µM)	0.4	0.4 µM
Reverse primer (20µM)	0.4	0.4 µM
Taq (5U/µL)	0.2	1U/rxn
H <sub>2</sub> O	14.8	
MasterMix	19	
DNA	1	
Total	20	

Table 11: 1st Round PCR Mastermix for SGA		
Mastermix 2 <sup>nd</sup> PCR	Vol(µL)/rxn	Final [ ]
10xBuffer	2	1x
MgSO <sub>4</sub> (50mM)	0.8	2mM
dNTP (10mM)	0.4	0.2mM
Forward primer (20µM)	0.4	0.4 µM
Reverse primer (20µM)	0.4	0.4 µM
Taq (5U/μL)	0.2	1U/rxn
60% Sucrose	2	1x
H <sub>2</sub> O	12.8	
MasterMix	19	
DNA	1	

Total	20	
Total	20	

DNA samples were diluted to keep the ratio 1:3 [1 copy of HIV per 3wells (Poison Distribution)], and the mix prepared (for example, for 30 copies in 90 wells if you have a sample with 2.54 copies/ $\mu$ L, you would need: 1710 $\mu$ Lof mastermix + 11.83 $\mu$ L of DNA + 78.17 $\mu$ L H20). 20 $\mu$ L of mix was then added to a well in regular 96 well PCR plate and controls added (19 $\mu$ L of mastermix + 1 $\mu$ L of H20 or 8E5 DNA (66 copies/ $\mu$ L) respectively). After a brief vortex, plates were placed into a C1000 Touch thermocycler, and run on the following protocol:

1.92°C 2 min

2. 92°C 10 sec

3. 60°C 30 sec

4. 68°C 10 min

\*repeat steps 2-4 9 times

5. 92°C 10 sec

6. 55°C 30 sec

7. 68°C 10 min

\*repeat steps 5-7 19 times

8. 68°C 10 min

9. 4°C ∞

After PCR program, keep at 4°C until 2<sup>nd</sup> run

For the  $2^{nd}$  PCR,  $19\mu$ L of  $2^{nd}$  master mix was added in the same number of wells (considering the controls wells) and  $1\mu$ L of the  $1^{st}$  PCR product transferred to each of them (total volume per well 20µl). After brief vortex, plates were placed in the C1000 Touch thermocycler, and run on the same PCR conditions of  $1^{st}$  PCR. Products were run on a 0.7% agarose gel and run using  $3\mu$ L per sample.

PCR products were purified using AMPure XP magnetic beads and individually submitted for next-generation sequencing on the Illumina MiSeq platform.(150) Amplification products were subjected to Illumina MiSeq sequencing at the Massachusetts General Hospital (MGH) DNA Core facility, using an in-house standard protocol for library construction using primers spanning HXB2 coordinates 638-9632.(150, 151) Resulting short reads were de novo assembled using Ultracycler v1.0 and aligned to HXB2 to identify large deleterious deletions (<8000 bp of the amplicon aligned to HXB2), out of-frame indels, premature/lethal stop codons, internal inversions, or 5'-LTR defect ( $\geq$ 15 bp insertions and/or deletions relative to HXB2), using an automated in-house pipeline written in R scripting language. Presence/absence of APOBEC3G/3F–associated hypermutations was determined using the Los Alamos HIV Sequence Database Hypermut 2.0 program. Viral sequences that lacked all mutations listed above were classified as "genome-intact." Multiple sequence alignments were performed using MUSCLE Viral sequences were deposited in GenBank.

	Sequence
1 <sup>st</sup> Round PCR	
Forward Primer – U5-638F	5'-GCGCCCGAACAGGGACYTGAAARCGAAAG
Reverse Primer – U5-547R	5'- GCACTCAAGGCAAGCTTTATTGAGGCTTA
2 <sup>nd</sup> Round PCR	
Forward Primer – U5-623F	5'-AAATCTCTAGCAGTGGCGCCCGAACAG
Reverse Primer – U5-601R	5'-TGAGGGATCTCTAGTTACCAGAGTC

Table	12:	SGA	Sequence	cing	Primers
-------	-----	-----	----------	------	---------

## 2.2.4 Maternal HIV genotyping from plasma

We genotyped HIV from a total of 22 mothers using Sanger sequencing. The viral RNA was extracted from 140-280µL patient plasma according to the QIAamp viral RNA Mini kit protocol (Qiagen; Valencia, CA), eluted in a final volume of 60µL and stored at -80°C for later use. The reverse transcription and first-round PCR were performed using the Superscript IV One-Step RT-PCR System with Platinum High Fidelity Taq (Invitrogen; Carlsbad, CA). In order to minimize possible resampling, the RT-PCR reactions were performed in triplicate for each sample in 25µL reactions. 3µL of the extracted viral RNA as template was added into 12.5µL of 2x buffer, 1.0µL of SuperScript IV RT/Platinum Taq HiFi mix, 0.5µL of 10µM of forward and reverse primers: PF1,5'-AAAGGGCTGTTGGAAATGTGG-3' and PR1,5'-CCCCAATATGTTGTTATTAC-3' and 7.5µL of distilled water. For plasmid DNA from reference viruses, 2ng of template DNA was used in each PCR. The RT-PCR conditions were as follows: (1) an initial reverse transcription step of 55°C for 30 min; (2) 2 min at 94°C for DNA denaturation and Taq DNA polymerase activation; (3) 25 cycles of 94°C for 30 sec for DNA melting, 56°C for 30 sec for annealing and 68°C for 3.5 min for elongation followed by final extension at 68°C for 5 min. Triplicate reactions for each sample were combined and mixed well to use as template for the second-round PCR reaction, which was carried out in 3 separate 25µL reactions using High Fidelity DNA Polymerase kit (Life Technologies, US) with forward and reverse primers: PF2, 5'- AAGGAAGGACACCAAATGAAAGA-3' and PR2, 5'-TGGGATGTGTACTTCTGAACTTA-3'. The 25µL PCR reaction contained 2.5µL of 10x HF buffer, 0.5µL of 10mM dNTP, 1.0µL of 50mM Mg2SO4, 0.2µL of Platinum Taq High Fidelity, 0.5µL of 10µM of forward and reverse primers, 2µL of the RT-PCR amplicon, and 17.8µL of distilled water. Amplification was carried out with the following conditions: at 94°C for 2 min, then 32 cycles of at 94°C for 30 sec, at 58°C for 30 sec and at 68°C for 3 min followed by final extension at 68°C for 5 min. The triplicate PCR reactions were combined and the presence of an approximately 3.1 kilobases (kb) amplicon was verified by agarose gel electrophoresis. Amplification products were subjected to Sanger sequencing at the Massachusetts General Hospital (MGH) DNA Core facility. Sequence alignments were performed using Geneious, presence/absence of HIVDR mutations was determined using Stanford University-HIV Drug Resistance Database (https://hivdb.stanford.edu/)

#### 2.2.5 HIV Drug Resistance Analysis

All near full-length HIV-1 CAD (from infant PBMCs) and HIV *pol* (from maternal plasma) sequences were analyzed for the presence of HIVDR mutations using the Stanford HIV Drug Resistance database for analysis (hivdb.stanford.edu). Sequences were subtyped by on-line tools REGA HIV-1 subtyping tool ver. 3 and Context-based Modeling for Expeditious Typing (COMET HIV-1).(152, 153)

### 2.2.6 Statistical Considerations

Descriptive statistics were analyzed using SAS software. Microsoft excel was used to sort and determine frequencies of HIVDR mutations present. We determined the difference in proportion of HIVDR mutations present in intact vs defective HIV-1CAD by two sample Z-test. Because of the small sample size, comparisons were descriptive in nature. Proportion comparison of HIVDR mutations detected in intact vs defective HIV-1 CAD sequences was determined using two proportion Z test. For purposes of this analysis, we assumed that all identified resistance mutations in the first HIV-1 CAD sample available within 1 month were TDR rather than de novo mutations. Statistical analysis was conducted using GraphPad Prism version 9 for Mac (GraphPad Software, San Diego, California USA, www.graphpad.com) and Stata version 14 (StataCorp LP, College Station, Texas).

# **CHAPTER THREE**

## **3.0 RESULTS**

## **3.1 AIM 1 RESULTS**

We used 78 DBS samples from the Botswana EID programme. The DBS samples were from <18-month-old recently HIV diagnosed children collected from 2016 to 2018; samples were stored at -20°C. A total of 78 samples were successfully retrieved and stored at -20°C for testing. The median age of all infants was 2 months (IQR: 2- 4).

Of the 78 DBS samples available, 32 (41%) were successfully amplified and sequenced. Figure 6 below shows an example of a 1X Tris/Borate/ ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) (TBE) gel of the nested PCR product (2<sup>nd</sup> round PCR product). Wells 1, 3, 4, 6, 9, 10, 11 and 12 show bands of approximately 1.1kb which had successful 2<sup>nd</sup> round PCR amplification. Wells 2, 5, 7 and 8 show samples that failed amplification.





Figure 6: Example of 1X TBE gel electrophoresis of the Nested PCR product (approx. 1.1kb)

A total of three [9.7%, 95% CI: 2.2-25.6] newly diagnosed infants had detectable SDRMs. One sample was excluded due to APOBEC-induced mutations G68R, G112K, W212\*.

Although PMTCT coverage is >95% in Botswana, PMTCT exposure data was not available for all infants. Among these infants, one (33%) had a NNRTI HIV SDRM (K103N) detected and two (67%) had a detectable PI SDRMs (M46L and L23I) (Table 13).

Table 13: Patient characteristics and detected SDRMs in <18-month-old EID infants

Sequence ID	Year of	Patient Age	NRTI	NNRTI	PI SDRMs
	sample draw	mple draw (months)		SDRMs	
NOM879597	2017	18	None	None	L23I
NOM428094_2	2018	5	None	None	M46L
NOM20202 2	2010	1	None	V102N	Nono
NOIVI308293_2	2019	4	INOILE	K103IN	INOILE

NRTI, nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors; NNRTI, non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors; PI, protease inhibitors



0,0100



### **3.2 AIM 2 RESULTS**

A total of 27/42 (64.3%) of infants from the EIT study were included in this analysis, median age at enrolment for these infants was 2 days. The median age at PBMC sample collection was 2 days (range: 2-32 days), with a median digital droplet PCR HIV-1 CAD load value of 492 (IQR: 78, 1246) copies/mL. Maternal and infant HIV regimen was available for all infants. All 27 infants were started on zidovudine (ZDV)/lamivudine (3TC)/nevirapine (NVP), with transition to ZDV/3TC/lopinavir-ritonavir (LPV-r) at 2-5 weeks. Twenty-two (52.3%) mothers of median age 28 years had plasma genotyped for HIVDR mutations. Mothers were receiving either efavirenz (EFV)/emtricitabine (FTC)/tenofovir (TDF) (36.4%), dolutegravir (DTG)/FTC/TDF (13.6%), lopinavir/ritonavir/FTC/TDF (4.5%), or no ART (40.9%) (Table 14).

 Table 14: Baseline demographics of EIT infants and mothers of infants at enrolment

 Maternal Characteristics (N=22)

Maternal Age (years), Median (IQR)	28 (23, 30)			
Maternal Absolute CD4 Count (cell/µl), Median (IQR)	377 (220, 634)			
Maternal Viral load (log10), Median (IQR)	4.4, (3.3, 4.9)			
Maternal Marital status, n (%)				
Cohabiting	1 (4.5)			
Single	21 (95.5)			
Maternal Highest education level, n (%)				
Primary	1 (4.5)			
Junior Secondary	12 (54.5)			
Senior Secondary	7 (31.8)			
Tertiary	2 (9.1)			
Household Electricity, n (%)				
No	7 (31.8)			
Yes	15 (68.2)			
Household Car, n (%)				
No	18 (81.8)			

Yes	4 (18.2)
Maternal ARV Regimen, n (%)	
None	9 (40.9)
EFV+FTC+TDF	8 (36.4)
TRU+DTG	3 (13.6)
TRU+ LPV/r	1 (4.5)
Maternal Mode of Delivery, n (%)	
SVD	16 (72.7)
C-section	6 (27.3)
Enrolment Site, n (%)	
Francistown	10 (45.5)
Gaborone	12 (54.5)

Infant Characteristics (N=27)

Gender, n (%)	
Female	19 (70.4)
Male	8 (29.6)
Age at enrollment (days), Median (IQR)	2.0 (2.0, 3.0)
Congenital abnormalities, n (%)	
No	27 (100.0)
ZDV after birth, n (%)	
No	1 (3.7)
Yes	26 (96.3)
sdNVP after birth, n (%)	
No	4 (14.8)
Yes	23 (85.2)
Feeding method immediately after delivery, n (%)	
Breastfeeding only	7 (25.9)
Formula feeding only	20 (74.1)
ART regimen initiated, n (%)	

ZDV-3TC-NVP	27 (100.0)
Birth weight (kilograms), Median (IQR)	3.0 (2.7, 3.2)
Gestational age at birth (weeks), Median (IQR)	39 (36, 40)
Absolute CD4 Count (cells/ul), Median (IQR)	1727 (1538, 2177)
Infant Viral load (log10), Median (IQR)	3.5 (3.0, 4.5)
Cell associated HIV DNA_ddPCR (copies/mL), Median (IQR)	492 (78, 1246)

ARV, antiretroviral drugs; ART, antiretroviral treatment; ddPCR, digital droplet PCR; DTG, dolutegravir; EFV, efavirenz; FTC, emtricitabine; IQR, interquartile range; NVP, nevirapine; LPV/r, Lopinavir/Ritonavir; sdNVP, single dose nevirapine; SVD, spontaneous vaginal delivery; TDF, tenofovir disoproxil fumarate; 3TC, lamivudine; TRU, Truvada (FTC/TDF), ZDV, zidovudine

### HIVDR mutations in infants by 1 month of life

We analysed a total of 257 sequences from 27 infants with successful NGS HIV-1 CAD genotyping in the first month, with a median of 24 (Q1, Q3: 11,47) sequences per infant. All sequences were HIV-1 subtype C (100%). HIVDR mutations from HIV-1 CAD were detected in 9/27 (33.3%) infants. Table 15 shows the overall HIVDR mutations detected in these 9 infants, as well as the mutations identified in the plasma of 22 mothers by population-based Sanger sequencing.

Among infants with HIVDR mutations detected most common mutations detected (overall) were NNRTIs and PIs (88.9%). PI major mutation D30N was detected in 5/8 infants with PI mutations in their overall HIV-1 CAD. NNRTI mutations were detected in 6/9 (66.7%) infants, with M230I mutation detected in 6/8 infant with NNRTI mutations. The most common NRTI mutation detected was M184I (5/6); M184V, K65R and Y115F were all detected in 1 infant each contributing 16.7% prevalence each among infants with NRTI mutations. A total of 7/9 (77.8%) infants had detectable major INSTI mutations in their pro-viral DNA; G140R was the most common major INSTI mutation observed.

Overall mutations were detected in infants exposed to maternal ART (66.7%) as well as those whose mothers were not receiving any ART at delivery (33.3%). Among infants exposed to NNRTI regimens in pregnancy (EFV/3TC/TDF), 5/6 had NNRTI mutations detected in their overall HIV-1 CAD within 1month of life. When looking at only intact HIV-1 CAD sequences, 2/3 infants with NRTI and NNRTI (EFV+FTC+TDF) exposure during pregnancy had HIVDR mutations associated with these regimens. One third of these infants had K103N mutation

without prior exposure to ART. The single infant whose mother received a PI containing regimen did not have any PI mutations detected. All PI and INSTI mutations, detected without prior ART exposure, were in defective HIV-1 CAD and none of them in intact HIV-1 CAD.

Of the 22 mothers with successful plasma genotypes, 5 (22.7%) had detectable HIVDR mutations. None of the mothers were genotyped for INSTI HIVDR mutations. The most commonly occurring mutations were to NNRTIS (K103N, E138A and A98G) detected in 4 (18.1%) of the mothers. Only 1 mother had a detectable PI accessory mutation in plasma. When the genotyped mothers were compared with their infants, 3 of the 5 mothers with detectable plasma mutations may have transmitted these to their infants, based on detectability in intact HIV-1 CAD within 1 month. Of these, 3 pairs had at least one matched NNRTI mutation detected (including K103N, V106I/M, A98G and E138K), and one pair had the same NRTI mutations detected (K65R, Y115F and M184V). INSTI mutations in children could not be evaluated for TDR because of limited maternal sampling.

HIV DRMs	Frequency, (%) (All infants	Frequency, (%)			
	genotyped, N=27)	(All mothers genotyped, N= 22)			
Any DRM	9/27 (33.3)	5/22 (22.7)			
PI mutations					
Any PI mutation	8/9 (88.9)	1/5 (20.0)			
D30N	5/8	0			
M46I	3/8	0			
G48R <sup>a</sup>	5/8	0			
G73S <sup>a</sup>	7/8	0			
G48E <sup>a</sup>	1/8	0			
L23LFIV <sup>a</sup>	0	1/5 (20.0)			
NRTI mutations					
Any NRTI mutations	6/9 (66.7)	2/ (40.0)			
M184I	5/6	0			
M184V	1/6	1/5			
K65R	1/6	1/5			

**Table 15:** Overall HIV-1 CAD drug resistance mutations detected in infant PBMCs within 1

 month of life and maternal plasma at enrolment

Y115F	1/6	1/5					
NNRTI mutations							
Any NNRTI mutations	8/9 (88.9)	4/5 (80.0)					
E138K	4/8	0					
E138A	0	1/5					
M230I	6/8	0					
A98G	1/8	1/5					
K103N	2/8	2/5					
F227L	1/8	0					
V106I/M	2/8	0					
INSTI mutations							
Any INSTI mutations	7/9 (77.8)						
G140R	6/7	NA					
E138K	1/7	NA					
R263K	1/7	NA					
G163R <sup>a</sup>	5/7	NA					
G140E <sup>a</sup>	1/7	NA					
G140K <sup>a</sup>	2/7	NA					

ARV, antiretroviral drugs; HIV DRMs, Human immunodeficiency virus associated drug resistance mutations; INSTI, integrase strand transfer inhibitors; NRTI, nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors; NNRTI, non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors; PI, protease inhibitors`

a – accessory mutations, NA- data not available

#### Early HIVDR mutations in defective vs intact infant HIV-1 CAD

Figure 8A shows overall HIVDR mutations detected in intact and defective sequences (n= 257) from 9 infants with detectable HIV-1 CAD HIVDR mutations, where each dot represents a sequence with a detectable DRM. Figure 8B shows the number of intact and defective HIV-1 CAD sequences with frequency of resistance mutations (per drug class) among the 9 infants who had detectable HIVDR mutations. We observe overall lower frequencies of mutations within intact infant HIV-1 CAD (33 [31.1%] of 106 sequences) as compared with defective HIV-1 CAD [ (39.7%) of 151 sequences] (Figure 8A), p = 0.14. Among the intact HIV-1 CAD sequences with HIVDR mutations detected, 29.2% had NNRTI, 7.5% NRTI, 0.9% PI and none

had INSTI associated mutations. Among the defective HIV-1 CAD with HIVDR mutations detected, 31.8% had NNRTI, 15.2% NRTI, 5.3% PI, and 16.6% had INSTI associated mutations (Figure 8 B).



**Figure 8:** Frequency of any drug resistance mutations between intact and defective HIV-1 CAD of infants within 1 month of life

Figure 8 (A) is a violin plot that summarizes the differences in distribution of total HIV HIVDR mutations detected in intact and defective sequences of 9 EIT neonates (determined by single-genome, near–full-length next-generation sequencing from PBMCs) within 1 month of life, where each dot represents a sequence. Defective sequences were either: hypermutated, had a premature stop codon, internally inverted with large deletions or harboured large deletions. Figure 8 (B) further represents total number of HIVDR mutations detected in intact vs defective sequences by drug regimen.

#### HIVDR mutations in intact HIV-1 CAD sequences of infants by 1 month of life

The results in Table 16 below show HIVDR mutations detected only in intact HIV-1 CAD of infants within 1 month of life. We show that all intact infant sequences harboured the exact same mutations, majority of which were HIVDR mutations associated with NNRTIs. Table 16 also compares these mutations with those found in maternal plasma at baseline using population-based sanger sequencing; indicating a high concordance to what is found in infant HIV-1 CAD within 1 month of life. Of these matched pairs, NNRTI mutations detected among both infants and mothers included K103N, V106M and A98G and one pair had the same NRTI mutations detected (K65R, Y115F and M184V).

**Table 16:** HIVDR mutations detected among intact HIV-1 CAD sequences of infants and maternal HIV RNA in plasma

Mothers*				Infants <sup>#</sup>						
Mother ID	PI	NRTI	NNRTI	INSTI	Infant ID	No. of intact sequenc es	PI	NRTI	NNRTI	INSTI
M-104	None	None	A98G	NA	AP-104	4	None	None	A98G	None
M-109	None	K65R, Y115F, M184V	K103N, V106M	NA	AP-109	10	None	K65R, Y115F, M184V	K103N, V106M, F227L	None
M-119	None	None	K103N	NA	AP-119	22	None	None	K103N	None

HIVDR, Human immunodeficiency virus associated drug resistance; INSTI, integrase strand transfer inhibitors; NA, not applicable (not tested); NRTI, nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors; NNRTI, non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors; PI, protease inhibitors

\* Generated using population-based sanger sequencing of HIV pol from plasma

# Generated using NGS FLIP sequencing from PBMCs

Note: All mutations were found across all 36 infant sequences

# **CHAPTER FOUR**

## **4.0 DISCUSSION**

The main aim of this study was to determine the patterns of HIV-1 drug resistance among early diagnosed and treated infants living with HIV in Botswana.

#### Sequencing of HIV-1 from DBS

The first aim of the paper utilized dried blood spot (DBS) samples from early HIV diagnosed infants. This is the first study to do a surveillance of drug resistance mutations in infants in Botswana. Our results show a sequencing success rate of only 41% out of a small sample of 78 infants at initial screening. Of note, similar studies have observed sequencing success rates up to 100% using DBS stored samples.(154, 155) Because we are certain that the sample storage for the DBS cards was optimal, the low sequencing success rates observed in this study may have been due to lack of viral load data for the infants. The ATCC genotyping has been validated for plasma and dried blood spot sample types with HIV viral loads of at least 1000 copies/mL, there is therefore possibility that the samples that failed amplification belonged to infants with low HIV viral loads.

### HIVDR in EID infants in Botswana

We observed relatively high levels of surveillance HIVDR mutations among 32 early diagnosed infants in Botswana between the years of 2016 and 2019. The total prevalence of PDR in this sample was 9.7% (95% CI: 2.2-25.6) from three infants out of 32. Among the three infants, one (33%) had NNRTI HIV SDRM (K103N) detected and two (67%) had a detectable PI SDRMs (M46L and L23I). These results were in concordance with a recent study in Cameroon that showed 31.6%, 26.3% and 15.8% resistance to NNRTI, NRTI and PI respectively in treatment naïve infants.(156) Although resistance to PIs was higher than expected, lack of PMTCT exposure data may be a contributing factor. A large number of infants who present VF even on PI containing regimens have been found to be exposed to PIs during PMTCT or harbour vertically transmitted mutations from mothers failing PMTCT.

#### HIVDR in PBMCs of early treated infants

This study reports HIVDR mutations in HIV-1 CAD of early treated infants with HIV DNA levels similar to those recently reported in paediatric populations with suppressed viral loads.(157, 158) We report a relatively high overall HIVDR mutation prevalence (33.3%) in HIV-1 CAD of early treated infants within 1 month of life, with higher frequency in defective proviruses. When considering only intact HIV-1 CAD, HIVDR mutations were detected in 11.1% of the participants. The advantage of this whole-genome sequencing approach allowed us to detect defective viruses using all genomic regions of the virus other than just the HIV *pol* gene commonly used in population-based Sanger sequencing. The findings in this study emphasize the importance of taking into account defective viruses when using HIV-1 CAD sequences from sample types such as dried blood spots and PBMCs.

Generally, the most commonly occurring HIV-1 CAD mutations in infants were to NNRTIs and PIs. However, when looking at only intact HIV-1 CAD, there were no PI or INSTI associated resistance mutations in these infants. Maternal and infant mutations to NNRTIs occurred in 100% of matched pairs, supporting our assumption that the HIVDR mutations identified in intact PBMC HIV-1 CAD sequences represented TDR. Mismatched drug resistance mutations between maternal-infant pairs were not common when assessing HIVDR mutations in intact HIV-1 CAD, we observe only one mismatch between mother and child HIVDR mutations and believe this is likely to represent TDR of minor variant F227L (rather than an early infant de novo mutation) as the infant PBMCs were drawn within 2 days of life.

A study looking at adult patients with low-level viremia (50-1000 copies/mL) characterized HIVDR mutations from PBMCs of 468 patients comparing them to those obtained in plasma.(159) They revealed high proportions of HIVDR mutations in PBMCs; (30.6%) NRTI associated mutations, followed by (22.2%) NNRTI associated mutations, (14.1%) PI associated mutations and (4.9%) IN associated mutations. 20.1% of the patients had mutations shown in the PBMC sequences only(159), supporting the hypothesis that the use of HIV-1 CAD for detection of HIVDR mutations may provide additional information and may reveal hidden archived mutations which may lead to future viral rebound. However, the limitation of this study is that they did not report on whether these HIV-1 CAD sequences represent replication competent viruses. Another study that assessed the presence of HIV associated mutations from DBS reported high rates of NRTI (26%) and NNRTI (40%) resistance associated mutations in children aged 9.9 (IQR 7.6 -13.4) years in Mali, who were on suppressive ART. However,

approximately 37% of these children had defective HIV-1 CAD genomes.(157) Although these results were obtained by bulk sequencing, they show that reporting resistance data from samples such as PBMCs and DBS may overestimate the prevalence of HIVDR mutations from HIV-1 CAD.

#### HIVDR in intact vs defective HIV-1 CAD sequences of early treated infants

The second aim of this study was to investigate the frequency of HIV associated drug resistance mutations among intact and defective HIV-1 CAD sequences from very early treated infants. In our analysis we observed higher frequencies of HIVDR mutations within HIV-1 CAD with defects, although not statistically significant (p=0.14). Most mutations that were observed in the defective HIV-1 CAD sequences were APOBEC induced hypermutations, which is expected when using HIV-1 CAD. The mutations observed in defective HIV-1 CAD sequences from these children correlated with what was observed in maternal plasma at delivery on only one occasion, the child had M184I mutation detected in one defective sequence, the matching maternal *pol* sequence at delivery had mutation M184MR. The mutation D30N was the most common PI major mutation in defective HIV-1 CAD, this is a well-known APOBEC induced mutation and was not observed in any of the intact HIV-1 CAD. Similarly, the NNRTI E138K as well as INSTI E138K mutations are common known APOBEC induced mutations and commonly occur in high frequencies when assessing mutations from HIV-1 CAD.(160) This highlights expected findings that HIVDR mutations would occur more frequently in defective viruses as these have altered genotypic and phenotypic characteristics that impact their functionality. Furthermore, we observed INSTI mutations only in HIV-1 CAD sequences with defects, none of the infants with these mutations were exposed to integrase containing regimen in utero or post-partum. Although there is a possibility of children developing resistance mutations without prior ART exposure(161), HIVDR mutations found in defective viruses may have little to no bearing on future clinical outcomes as these are most likely to be observed in genomes that do not contribute to the pool of replication competent viruses. This finding also emphasizes consideration of defective viruses when reporting HIVDR data, especially in settings where HIV-1 CAD from cells, whole blood or DBS are used.

When considering only intact HIV-1 CAD, the most common mutations observed were NRTI and NNRTI mutations. Both the infants and their mothers in this cohort were on NRTI and NNRTI containing regimens. A large number of studies have revealed TDR of NNRTIs to be

one of the predictors of virologic failure in infants on ART, similarly resistance to NVP and EFV have been reported in treatment experienced children.(107, 137, 162) There is a possibility that the HIVDR mutations detected in intact HIV-1 CAD before one month of age may have had an impact on future clinical failure in this cohort. This is because the mutation A98G was observed across all intact HIV-1 CAD of the infant who had a viral rebound after 84 weeks, with the same clinical genotype detected by Sanger sequencing at failure, indicating that it was likely to be clinically relevant (data not shown). While this child supports the possibility that early archived mutations in children may be implicated in future clinical failure(131), there were also two children with only novel mutations at time of clinical failure. A study conducted by Simonetti et al., revealed that a 58-year-old African-American man diagnosed with HIV-1 in 2000 had a replication competent provirus in an expanded cell clone which matched a single viral variant present and detectable during ART.(163) Other studies have supported this finding, showing that intact proviruses are able to produce infectious virions which later lead to adverse treatment outcomes, even in the presence of long-term suppressive ART.(37, 164) Similarly, a study by Katusiime et al. 2020, showed that intact HIV-1 CAD were detected in South African children (aged 7 to 9 years) who initiated ART after approximately 2 months of age, these replication competent HIV-1 CAD were maintained by clonal expansion prior to ART initiation.(165) This finding supports our hypothesis that intact HIV-1 CAD are the main drivers for future viral rebound even in the presence of suppressive ART, especially if they harbour early archived HIVDR mutations. In Botswana, a study by Koofhethile et al. 2020, quantified the proviral reservoir in 15 perinatally infected adolescents who were receiving ART for over 13 years. This study revealed that despite lifelong ART which was started within the first year of life, neither CAD nor inducible replication-competent proviruses were eliminated.(166)

There were several limitations to this study; these included lack of maternal regimen data for the EID infants who were screened for surveillance drug resistance. There was high sequence failure rate using DBS samples for HIV genotyping, this may have been also due to lack of viral load data for these infants that may have had impact on assay used. None of the mothers were genotyped for INSTI HIVDR mutations and thus comparisons between maternal and infant INSTI HIVDR mutations could not be done in the EIT cohort. We were also not able to show that sequence-intact HIV-1 CAD genomes were actually representative of replication competent and thus definitive proviral reservoirs. Our sample size was very small within both cohorts, precluding statistical comparisons. Strengths of our study included use of recent residual DBS samples which were stored in optimal conditions from the EID programme. We also had the advantage of using a carefully followed cohort and the ability to evaluate HIV-1 CAD sequences in early PBMC samples. Most prior studies have traditionally used either plasma or dried blood spots to describe TDR among infants. However, with very early treatment it is increasingly difficult to sequence and genotype HIV from plasma using current methods, and the availability of early PBMCs was an advantage. These archived HIV-1 CAD sequences are very likely to represent TDR, given current knowledge of the early establishment of the latent proviral reservoir following infection -including in utero infection.

## **4.1 CONCLUSION**

As objectives of this study were set, we investigated the frequency of surveillance SDRMs among newly diagnosed infants in the Botswana EID program as well as the frequency of HIVDR mutations among intact and defective HIV-1 CAD sequences from very early treated infants (EIT). We report relatively high and regionally comparable rates of SDRMs among newly diagnosed infants with unknown PMTCT exposure in Botswana which may suggest that most transmissions occurred in mother-baby pairs who did not access PMTCT services. Although the current Botswana clinical guidelines follow what the WHO currently recommends, our results reveal the importance of genotyping HIV diagnosed infants for HIVDR prior to initiation of first line ART for better lifelong treatment and care.

In the early treated EIT cohort, we observed relatively high rates of HIV drug resistance mutations detected in infant HIV-1 CAD within 1 month of life. Higher rates of these mutations were observed in defective HIV-1 CAD, indicating that the use of whole blood as well as DBS for genotyping in infants may provide an overestimation of what is truly archived and may lead to future viral rebound.

Given high potency of new regimens coupled with EIT, the use of Sanger sequencing in infants with LLV may not yield accurate results, therefore sequencing from cell associated DNA may be the only way to accurately determine HIVDR mutations in cases of MTCT of HIVDR mutations. Our results show that excluding defective HIV-1 CAD sequences from HIVDR analysis yields more accurate drug resistance results. All mutations detected in intact HIV-1 CAD sequences from the EIT infants were also observed in their maternal plasma by Sanger sequencing at delivery, this observation supports the hypothesis that early mother to child HIV transmission of drug resistance may be determined by genotyping HIV-1 DNA from samples such as DBS and PBMCs. Moreover, mutations observed in infant HIV-1 CAD may also provide more information on treatment options for children.

A high proportion of the mutations observed in defective HIV-1 CAD sequences in this study were associated with APOBEC 3-G hypermutation. Therefore, it is pivotal that when performing drug resistance testing on cells that contain HIV-1 CAD, bioinformatic pipelines that exclude defective proviruses should precede any interpretation of drug resistance.
In conclusion, this study is the first to report drug resistance data in early HIV-1 diagnosed and treated infants in Botswana. Larger studies with higher numbers of participants are recommended to further investigate the impact of drug resistance in Batswana infants for optimal treatment and care.

### REFERENCES

1. Becker ML, Spracklen FH, Becker WB. Isolation of a lymphadenopathy-associated virus from a patient with the acquired immune deficiency syndrome. S Afr Med J. 1985 Aug 3;68(3):144-7. PMID: 2992103.

2. Gottlieb MS, Schroff R, Schanker HM, Weisman JD, Fan PT, Wolf RA, Saxon A. Pneumocystis carinii pneumonia and mucosal candidiasis in previously healthy homosexual men: evidence of a new acquired cellular immunodeficiency. N Engl J Med. 1981 Dec 10;305(24):1425-31. doi: 10.1056/NEJM198112103052401. PMID: 6272109.

3. Masur H, Michelis MA, Greene JB, Onorato I, Stouwe RA, Holzman RS, Wormser G, Brettman L, Lange M, Murray HW, Cunningham-Rundles S. An outbreak of community-acquired Pneumocystis carinii pneumonia: initial manifestation of cellular immune dysfunction. N Engl J Med. 1981 Dec 10;305(24):1431-8. doi: 10.1056/NEJM198112103052402. PMID: 6975437.

4. Curran JW, Lawrence DN, Jaffe H, Kaplan JE, Zyla LD, Chamberland M, Weinstein R, Lui KJ, Schonberger LB, Spira TJ, et al. Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) associated with transfusions. N Engl J Med. 1984 Jan 12;310(2):69-75. doi: 10.1056/NEJM198401123100201. PMID: 6606780.

5. Rubinstein A, Sicklick M, Gupta A, et al. Acquired Immunodeficiency With Reversed T4/T8 Ratios in Infants Born to Promiscuous and Drug-Addicted Mothers. *JAMA*. 1983;249(17):2350–2356. doi:10.1001/jama.1983.03330410036025

# 6. UNAIDS. 2020. Global HIV & AIDS statistics - 2020 fact sheet [Online] Available: aidsinfo.unaids.org.

7. UNAIDS. 2017. Ending AIDS: Progress towards 90-90-90 targets. [Online] Available: aidsinfo.unaids.org.

8. Statistics Botswana. Botswana AIDS Impact Survey IV. 2013. [Online] Available: https://www.statsbots.org.bw/sites/default/files/publications/BOTSWANA%20AIDS%20IM PACT%20SURVEY%20IV%202013.pdf 9. UNAIDS. 2017. UNAIDS DATA 2017. [Online] Available: aidsinfo.unaids.org.

10. Chiu IM, Yaniv A, Dahlberg JE, Gazit A, Skuntz SF, Tronick SR, Aaronson SA. Nucleotide sequence evidence for relationship of AIDS retrovirus to lentiviruses. Nature. 1985 Sep 26-Oct 2;317(6035):366-8. doi: 10.1038/317366a0. PMID: 2995822.

11. Essex M. Human immunodeficiency viruses in the developing world. Adv Virus Res. 1999;53:71-88. doi: 10.1016/s0065-3527(08)60343-7. PMID: 10582095.

12. Essex M, Hardy WD, Jr., Cotter SM, Jakowski RM, Sliski A. Naturally occurring persistent feline oncornavirus infections in the absence of disease. Infection and immunity. 1975;11(3):470-5. doi: 10.1128/IAI.11.3.470-475.1975. PubMed PMID: 163793.

13. Daar ES. AIDS in Africa Edited by Max Essex, Souleymane Mboup, Phyllis J. Kanki, and Mbowa R. Kalengayi. New York: Raven Press, 1994. 728 pp., illustrated. \$160. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 1994;19(5):998-. doi: 10.1093/clinids/19.5.998-a.

14. NAM Aidsmap. 2020 'HIV-1 and HIV-2'. [Online]. Available from: https://www.aidsmap.com/about-hiv/hiv-1-and-hiv-2.

15. Peeters M, Piot P, van der Groen G. Variability among HIV and SIV strains of African origin. AIDS. 1991;5 Suppl 1:S29-36. PMID: 1669922.

Keele BF, Van Heuverswyn F, Li Y, Bailes E, Takehisa J, Santiago ML, Bibollet-Ruche F, Chen Y, Wain LV, Liegeois F, Loul S, Ngole EM, Bienvenue Y, Delaporte E, Brookfield JF, Sharp PM, Shaw GM, Peeters M, Hahn BH. Chimpanzee reservoirs of pandemic and nonpandemic HIV-1. Science. 2006 Jul 28;313(5786):523-6. doi: 10.1126/science.1126531. Epub 2006 May 25. PMID: 16728595; PMCID: PMC2442710.

17. Hirsch VM, Olmsted RA, Murphey-Corb M, Purcell RH, Johnson PR. An African primate lentivirus (SIVsm) closely related to HIV-2. Nature. 1989 Jun 1;339(6223):389-92. doi: 10.1038/339389a0. PMID: 2786147.

18. Greenwood EJ, Schmidt F, Kondova I, Niphuis H, Hodara VL, Clissold L, McLay K, Guerra B, Redrobe S, Giavedoni LD, Lanford RE, Murthy KK, Rouet F, Heeney JL. Simian

Immunodeficiency Virus Infection of Chimpanzees (Pan troglodytes) Shares Features of Both Pathogenic and Non-pathogenic Lentiviral Infections. PLoS Pathog. 2015 Sep 11;11(9):e1005146. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1005146. PMID: 26360709; PMCID: PMC4567047.

19. Keele BF, Jones JH, Terio KA, Estes JD, Rudicell RS, Wilson ML, Li Y, Learn GH, Beasley TM, Schumacher-Stankey J, Wroblewski E, Mosser A, Raphael J, Kamenya S, Lonsdorf EV, Travis DA, Mlengeya T, Kinsel MJ, Else JG, Silvestri G, Goodall J, Sharp PM, Shaw GM, Pusey AE, Hahn BH. Increased mortality and AIDS-like immunopathology in wild chimpanzees infected with SIVcpz. Nature. 2009 Jul 23;460(7254):515-9. doi: 10.1038/nature08200. PMID: 19626114; PMCID: PMC2872475.

20. Sharp PM, Shaw GM, Hahn BH. Simian immunodeficiency virus infection of chimpanzees. J Virol. 2005 Apr;79(7):3891-902. doi: 10.1128/JVI.79.7.3891-3902.2005. PMID: 15767392; PMCID: PMC1061584.

21. Gelderblom HR, Özel M, Hausmann EHS, Winkel T, Pauli G, Koch MA. Fine structure of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), immunolocalization of structural proteins and virus-cell relation. Micron and Microscopica Acta. 1988;19(1):41-60. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/0739-6260(88)90039-1.

22. Levy J.A. HIV and the pathogenesis of AIDS. Washingtn DC: ASM Press; 2007.

23. Dicker IB, Samanta HK, Li Z, Hong Y, Tian Y, Banville J, Remillard RR, Walker MA, Langley DR, Krystal M. Changes to the HIV long terminal repeat and to HIV integrase differentially impact HIV integrase assembly, activity, and the binding of strand transfer inhibitors. J Biol Chem. 2007 Oct 26;282(43):31186-96. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M704935200. Epub 2007 Aug 21. PMID: 17715137.

24. Chan DC, Fass D, Berger JM, Kim PS. Core structure of gp41 from the HIV envelope glycoprotein. Cell. 1997 Apr 18;89(2):263-73. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(00)80205-6. PMID: 9108481.

57

25. Götte M, Li X, Wainberg MA. HIV-1 reverse transcription: a brief overview focused on structure-function relationships among molecules involved in initiation of the reaction. Arch Biochem Biophys. 1999 May 15;365(2):199-210. doi: 10.1006/abbi.1999.1209. PMID: 10328813.

26. Stevenson M, Stanwick TL, Dempsey MP, Lamonica CA. HIV-1 replication is controlled at the level of T cell activation and proviral integration. EMBO J. 1990 May;9(5):1551-60. PMID: 2184033; PMCID: PMC551849.

27. Sierra S, Kupfer B, Kaiser R. Basics of the virology of HIV-1 and its replication. J Clin Virol. 2005 Dec;34(4):233-44. doi: 10.1016/j.jcv.2005.09.004. Epub 2005 Sep 29. PMID: 16198625.

28. Redel L, Le Douce V, Cherrier T, Marban C, Janossy A, Aunis D, Van Lint C, Rohr O, Schwartz C. HIV-1 regulation of latency in the monocyte-macrophage lineage and in CD4+ T lymphocytes. J Leukoc Biol. 2010 Apr;87(4):575-88. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0409264. Epub 2009 Oct 2. PMID: 19801499.

29. Mzingwane ML, Tiemessen CT. Mechanisms of HIV persistence in HIV reservoirs. Rev Med Virol. 2017 Mar;27(2). doi: 10.1002/rmv.1924. Epub 2017 Jan 27. PMID: 28128885.

30. Wong JK, Yukl SA. Tissue reservoirs of HIV. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2016 Jul;11(4):362-70. doi: 10.1097/COH.00000000000293. PMID: 27259045; PMCID: PMC4928570.

31. Chomont N, El-Far M, Ancuta P, Trautmann L, Procopio FA, Yassine-Diab B, Boucher G, Boulassel MR, Ghattas G, Brenchley JM, Schacker TW, Hill BJ, Douek DC, Routy JP, Haddad EK, Sékaly RP. HIV reservoir size and persistence are driven by T cell survival and homeostatic proliferation. Nat Med. 2009 Aug;15(8):893-900. doi: 10.1038/nm.1972. Epub 2009 Jun 21. PMID: 19543283; PMCID: PMC2859814.

32. Wang Z, Gurule EE, Brennan TP, Gerold JM, Kwon KJ, Hosmane NN, Kumar MR, Beg SA, Capoferri AA, Ray SC, Ho YC, Hill AL, Siliciano JD, Siliciano RF. Expanded cellular clones carrying replication-competent HIV-1 persist, wax, and wane. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2018 Mar 13;115(11):E2575-E2584. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1720665115. Epub 2018 Feb 26. PMID: 29483265; PMCID: PMC5856552.

33. Baxter AE, O'Doherty U, Kaufmann DE. Beyond the replication-competent HIV reservoir: transcription and translation-competent reservoirs. Retrovirology. 2018 Feb 2;15(1):18. doi: 10.1186/s12977-018-0392-7. PMID: 29394935; PMCID: PMC5797386.

34. Falcinelli SD, Ceriani C, Margolis DM, Archin NM. New Frontiers in Measuring and Characterizing the HIV Reservoir. Front Microbiol. 2019 Dec 18;10:2878. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2019.02878. PMID: 31921056; PMCID: PMC6930150.

35. Barton K, Winckelmann A, Palmer S. HIV-1 Reservoirs During Suppressive Therapy. Trends Microbiol. 2016 May;24(5):345-355. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2016.01.006. Epub 2016 Feb 12. PMID: 26875617; PMCID: PMC5319871.

36. van Zyl G, Bale MJ, Kearney MF. HIV evolution and diversity in ART-treated patients.
Retrovirology. 2018 Jan 30;15(1):14. doi: 10.1186/s12977-018-0395-4. PMID: 29378595;
PMCID: PMC5789667.

37. Ho YC, Shan L, Hosmane NN, Wang J, Laskey SB, Rosenbloom DI, Lai J, Blankson JN, Siliciano JD, Siliciano RF. Replication-competent noninduced proviruses in the latent reservoir increase barrier to HIV-1 cure. Cell. 2013 Oct 24;155(3):540-51. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.09.020. Epub 2013 Oct 24. PMID: 24243014; PMCID: PMC3896327.

38. Claudia R. Avalos, Sarah L. Price, Ellen R. Forsyth, Julia N. Pin, Erin N. Shirk, Brandon T. Bullock, Suzanne E. Queen, Ming Li, Dane Gellerup, Shelby L. O'Connor, M. Christine Zink, Joseph L. Mankowski, Lucio Gama, Janice E. Clements. Quantitation of Productively Infected Monocytes and Macrophages of Simian Immunodeficiency Virus-Infected Macaques. Journal of Virology. 2016;90(12):5643. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00290-16.

39. Fun A, Mok HP, Wills MR, Lever AM. A highly reproducible quantitative viral outgrowth assay for the measurement of the replication-competent latent HIV-1 reservoir. Sci Rep. 2017 Feb 24;7:43231. doi: 10.1038/srep43231. PMID: 28233807; PMCID: PMC5324126.

40. Rosenbloom DIS, Bacchetti P, Stone M, Deng X, Bosch RJ, Richman DD, Siliciano JD, Mellors JW, Deeks SG, Ptak RG, Hoh R, Keating SM, Dimapasoc M, Massanella M, Lai J, Sobolewski MD, Kulpa DA, Busch MP; Reservoir Assay Validation and Evaluation Network (RAVEN) Study Group. Assessing intra-lab precision and inter-lab repeatability of outgrowth assays of HIV-1 latent reservoir size. PLoS Comput Biol. 2019 Apr 12;15(4):e1006849. doi: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1006849. PMID: 30978183; PMCID: PMC6481870.

41. Dyk V. *HIVAIDS Care & Counselling: A* Multidisciplinary Approach. Cape Town: Pearson South Africa; 2004.

42. McMichael AJ, Rowland-Jones SL. Cellular immune responses to HIV. Nature. 2001 Apr 19;410(6831):980-7. doi: 10.1038/35073658. PMID: 11309628.

43. Malim MH, Bieniasz PD. HIV Restriction Factors and Mechanisms of Evasion. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2012 May;2(5):a006940. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a006940. PMID: 22553496; PMCID: PMC3331687.

44. Stremlau M, Owens CM, Perron MJ, Kiessling M, Autissier P, Sodroski J. The cytoplasmic body component TRIM5alpha restricts HIV-1 infection in Old World monkeys. Nature. 2004 Feb 26;427(6977):848-53. doi: 10.1038/nature02343. PMID: 14985764.

45. Neil SJ, Zang T, Bieniasz PD. Tetherin inhibits retrovirus release and is antagonized by HIV-1 Vpu. Nature. 2008 Jan 24;451(7177):425-30. doi: 10.1038/nature06553. Epub 2008 Jan 16. PMID: 18200009.

46. Samson M, Libert F, Doranz BJ, Rucker J, Liesnard C, Farber CM, Saragosti S, Lapoumeroulie C, Cognaux J, Forceille C, Muyldermans G, Verhofstede C, Burtonboy G, Georges M, Imai T, Rana S, Yi Y, Smyth RJ, Collman RG, Doms RW, Vassart G, Parmentier M. Resistance to HIV-1 infection in caucasian individuals bearing mutant alleles of the CCR-5 chemokine receptor gene. Nature. 1996 Aug 22;382(6593):722-5. doi: 10.1038/382722a0. PMID: 8751444.

47. Folefoc AT, Fromme BJ, Katz AA, Flanagan CA. South African mutations of the CCR5 coreceptor for HIV modify interaction with chemokines and HIV Envelope protein. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2010 Aug;54(4):352-9. doi: 10.1097/QAI.0b013e3181e0c7b2. PMID: 20442662.

48. Hayes VM, Petersen DC, Scriba TJ, Zeier M, Grimwood A, Janse van Rensburg E. African-based CCR5 single-nucleotide polymorphism associated with HIV-1 disease progression. AIDS. 2002 Nov 8;16(16):2229-31. doi: 10.1097/00002030-200211080-00019. PMID: 12409748.

49. Warnke D, Barreto J, Temesgen Z. Antiretroviral drugs. J Clin Pharmacol. 2007 Dec;47(12):1570-9. doi: 10.1177/0091270007308034. PMID: 18048575.

50. Briz V, Poveda E, Soriano V. HIV entry inhibitors: mechanisms of action and resistance pathways. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2006 Apr;57(4):619-27. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkl027. Epub 2006 Feb 7. PMID: 16464888.

51. Eckert DM, Kim PS. Mechanisms of viral membrane fusion and its inhibition. Annu Rev Biochem. 2001;70:777-810. doi: 10.1146/annurev.biochem.70.1.777. PMID: 11395423.

52. UNAIDS. 2014. An ambitious treatment target to help end the AIDS epidemic. [Online] Available: aidsinfo.unaids.org.

61

53. National AIDS Coordinating Agency. 2013. *Progress Report of the National Response To the 2011 Declaration of commitments on HIV and AIDS*. [Online]. Available: https://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/country/documents/BWA\_narrative\_report\_2015.p df

54. Gaolathe T, Wirth KE, Holme MP, Makhema J, Moyo S, Chakalisa U, Yankinda EK, Lei Q, Mmalane M, Novitsky V, Okui L, van Widenfelt E, Powis KM, Khan N, Bennett K, Bussmann H, Dryden-Peterson S, Lebelonyane R, El-Halabi S, Mills LA, Marukutira T, Wang R, Tchetgen EJ, DeGruttola V, Essex M, Lockman S; Botswana Combination Prevention Project study team. Botswana's progress toward achieving the 2020 UNAIDS 90-90-90 antiretroviral therapy and virological suppression goals: a population-based survey. Lancet HIV. 2016 May;3(5):e221-30. doi: 10.1016/S2352-3018(16)00037-0. Epub 2016 Mar 24. PMID: 27126489; PMCID: PMC5146754.

55. Rates of mother-to-child transmission of HIV-1 in Africa, America, and Europe: results from 13 perinatal studies. The Working Group on Mother-To-Child Transmission of HIV. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol. 1995 Apr 15;8(5):506-10. doi: 10.1097/00042560-199504120-00011. PMID: 7697448.

56. Ghoma Linguissi LS, Sagna T, Soubeiga ST, Gwom LC, Nkenfou CN, Obiri-Yeboah D, Ouattara AK, Pietra V, Simpore J. Prevention of mother-to-child transmission (PMTCT) of HIV: a review of the achievements and challenges in Burkina-Faso. HIV AIDS (Auckl). 2019 Jul 24;11:165-177. doi: 10.2147/HIV.S204661. PMID: 31440104; PMCID: PMC6664853.

57. Dunn DT, Brandt CD, Krivine A, Cassol SA, Roques P, Borkowsky W, De Rossi A, Denamur E, Ehrnst A, Loveday C. The sensitivity of HIV-1 DNA polymerase chain reaction in the neonatal period and the relative contributions of intra-uterine and intra-partum transmission. AIDS. 1995 Sep;9(9):F7-11. doi: 10.1097/00002030-199509000-00001. PMID: 8527070.

58. Kuhn L, Steketee RW, Weedon J, Abrams EJ, Lambert G, Bamji M, Schoenbaum E, Farley J, Nesheim SR, Palumbo P, Simonds RJ, Thea DM. Distinct risk factors for intrauterine and intrapartum human immunodeficiency virus transmission and consequences for disease

progression in infected children. Perinatal AIDS Collaborative Transmission Study. J Infect Dis. 1999 Jan;179(1):52-8. doi: 10.1086/314551. PMID: 9841822.

59. Ehrnst A, Lindgren S, Dictor M, Johansson B, Sönnerborg A, Czajkowski J, Sundin G, Bohlin AB. HIV in pregnant women and their offspring: evidence for late transmission. Lancet. 1991 Jul 27;338(8761):203-7. doi: 10.1016/0140-6736(91)90347-r. PMID: 1676777.

60. Sprecher S, Soumenkoff G, Puissant F, Degueldre M. Vertical transmission of HIV in 15-week fetus. Lancet. 1986 Aug 2;2(8501):288-9. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(86)92110-0. PMID: 2874312.

61. Maternal viral load and vertical transmission of HIV-1: an important factor but not the only one. The European Collaborative Study. AIDS. 1999 Jul 30;13(11):1377-85. PMID: 10449292.

62. Thomas PA, Weedon J, Krasinski K, Abrams E, Shaffer N, Matheson P, Bamji M, Kaul A, Hutson D, Grimm KT, et al. Maternal predictors of perinatal human immunodeficiency virus transmission. The New York City Perinatal HIV Transmission Collaborative Study Group. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 1994 Jun;13(6):489-95. doi: 10.1097/00006454-199406000-00005. PMID: 8078735.

63. Garcia PM, Kalish LA, Pitt J, Minkoff H, Quinn TC, Burchett SK, Kornegay J, Jackson B, Moye J, Hanson C, Zorrilla C, Lew JF. Maternal levels of plasma human immunodeficiency virus type 1 RNA and the risk of perinatal transmission. Women and Infants Transmission Med. 1999 Study Group. Ν Engl J Aug 5;341(6):394-402. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199908053410602. PMID: 10432324.

64. Rutt Chuachoowong, Nathan Shaffer, Thomas C. VanCott, Pongsakdi Chaisilwattana, Wimol Siriwasin, Naris Waranawat, Nirun Vanprapar, Nancy L. Young, Timothy D. Mastro, John S. Lambert, Merlin L. Robb, for the Bangkok Collaborative Perinatal HIV Transmission Study Group, Lack of Association between Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Antibody in Cervicovaginal Lavage Fluid and Plasma and Perinatal Transmission, in Thailand, *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, Volume 181, Issue 6, June 2000, Pages 1957–1963, <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/315499</u>

65. John GC, Nduati RW, Mbori-Ngacha DA, Richardson BA, Panteleeff D, Mwatha A, Overbaugh J, Bwayo J, Ndinya-Achola JO, Kreiss JK. Correlates of mother-to-child human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) transmission: association with maternal plasma HIV-1 RNA load, genital HIV-1 DNA shedding, and breast infections. J Infect Dis. 2001 Jan 15;183(2):206-212. doi: 10.1086/317918. Epub 2000 Dec 15. PMID: 11120927.

66. Scarlatti G, Hodara V, Rossi P, Muggiasca L, Bucceri A, Albert J, Fenyö EM. Transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) from mother to child correlates with viral phenotype. Virology. 1993 Dec;197(2):624-9. doi: 10.1006/viro.1993.1637. PMID: 8249285.

67. Renjifo B, Gilbert P, Chaplin B, Msamanga G, Mwakagile D, Fawzi W, Essex M; Tanzanian Vitamin and HIV Study Group. Preferential in-utero transmission of HIV-1 subtype C as compared to HIV-1 subtype A or D. AIDS. 2004 Aug 20;18(12):1629-36. doi: 10.1097/01.aids.0000131392.68597.34. PMID: 15280773.

68. St Louis ME, Kamenga M, Brown C, Nelson AM, Manzila T, Batter V, Behets F, Kabagabo U, Ryder RW, Oxtoby M, et al. Risk for perinatal HIV-1 transmission according to maternal immunologic, virologic, and placental factors. JAMA. 1993 Jun 9;269(22):2853-9. PMID: 8098783.

69. Lehman DA, Farquhar C. Biological mechanisms of vertical human
immunodeficiency virus (HIV-1) transmission. Rev Med Virol. 2007 Nov-Dec;17(6):381403. doi: 10.1002/rmv.543. PMID: 17542053.

70. Scarlatti G, Albert J, Rossi P, Hodara V, Biraghi P, Muggiasca L, Fenyö EM. Motherto-child transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type 1: correlation with neutralizing antibodies against primary isolates. J Infect Dis. 1993 Jul;168(1):207-10. doi: 10.1093/infdis/168.1.207. PMID: 8515110.

Tiemessen CT, Shalekoff S, Meddows-Taylor S, Schramm DB, Papathanasopoulos MA, Gray GE, Sherman GG, Coovadia AH, Kuhn L. Cutting Edge: Unusual NK cell responses to HIV-1 peptides are associated with protection against maternal-infant transmission of HIV-1. J Immunol. 2009 May 15;182(10):5914-8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0900419. PMID: 19414742; PMCID: PMC2841685.

72. European Mode of Delivery Collaboration. Elective caesarean-section versus vaginal delivery in prevention of vertical HIV-1 transmission: a randomised clinical trial. Lancet. 1999 Mar 27;353(9158):1035-9. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(98)08084-2. Erratum in: Lancet 1999 May 15;353(9165):1714. PMID: 10199349.

73. Cooper ER, Charurat M, Mofenson L, Hanson IC, Pitt J, Diaz C, Hayani K, Handelsman E, Smeriglio V, Hoff R, Blattner W; Women and Infants' Transmission Study Group. Combination antiretroviral strategies for the treatment of pregnant HIV-1-infected women and prevention of perinatal HIV-1 transmission. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2002 Apr 15;29(5):484-94. doi: 10.1097/00126334-200204150-00009. PMID: 11981365.

74. Karnon J, Orji N. Option B+ for the prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV infection in developing countries: a review of published cost-effectiveness analyses. Health Policy Plan. 2016 Oct;31(8):1133-41. doi: 10.1093/heapol/czw025. Epub 2016 Mar 26. PMID: 27016949.

75. Shapiro RL, Hughes MD, Ogwu A, Kitch D, Lockman S, Moffat C, Makhema J, Moyo S, Thior I, McIntosh K, van Widenfelt E, Leidner J, Powis K, Asmelash A, Tumbare E, Zwerski S, Sharma U, Handelsman E, Mburu K, Jayeoba O, Moko E, Souda S, Lubega E, Akhtar M, Wester C, Tuomola R, Snowden W, Martinez-Tristani M, Mazhani L, Essex M. Antiretroviral regimens in pregnancy and breast-feeding in Botswana. N Engl J Med. 2010 Jun

17;362(24):2282-94. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0907736. PMID: 20554983; PMCID: PMC2999916.

76. Ministry of Health Botswana. 2016. Handbook of the Botswana 2016 Integrated HIV clinical care guidelines. [Online] Available:

https://www.moh.gov.bw/Publications/Handbook\_HIV\_treatment\_guidelines.pdf

77. Blanche S, Newell ML, Mayaux MJ, Dunn DT, Teglas JP, Rouzioux C, Peckham CS. Morbidity and mortality in European children vertically infected by HIV-1. The French Pediatric HIV Infection Study Group and European Collaborative Study. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol. 1997 Apr 15;14(5):442-50. doi: 10.1097/00042560-199704150-00008. PMID: 9170419.

78. Blanche S, Rouzioux C, Moscato ML, Veber F, Mayaux MJ, Jacomet C, Tricoire J, Deville A, Vial M, Firtion G, et al. A prospective study of infants born to women seropositive for human immunodeficiency virus type 1. HIV Infection in Newborns French Collaborative Study Group. N Engl J Med. 1989 Jun 22;320(25):1643-8. doi: 10.1056/NEJM198906223202502. PMID: 2657430.

79. Bamji M, Thea DM, Weedon J, Krasinski K, Matheson PB, Thomas P, Lambert G, Abrams EJ, Steketee R, Heagarty M. Prospective study of human immunodeficiency virus 1-related disease among 512 infants born to infected women in New York City. The New York City Perinatal HIV Transmission Collaborative Study Group. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 1996 Oct;15(10):891-8. doi: 10.1097/00006454-199610000-00012. PMID: 8895922.

80. Tovo PA, de Martino M, Gabiano C, Galli L, Tibaldi C, Vierucci A, Veglia F. AIDS appearance in children is associated with the velocity of disease progression in their mothers. J Infect Dis. 1994 Oct;170(4):1000-2. doi: 10.1093/infdis/170.4.1000. PMID: 7930693.

81. Blanche S, Mayaux MJ, Rouzioux C, Teglas JP, Firtion G, Monpoux F, Ciraru-Vigneron N, Meier F, Tricoire J, Courpotin C, et al. Relation of the course of HIV infection in children to the severity of the disease in their mothers at delivery. N Engl J Med. 1994 Feb 3;330(5):308-12. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199402033300502. PMID: 7904046.

82. Rich KC, Fowler MG, Mofenson LM, Abboud R, Pitt J, Diaz C, Hanson IC, Cooper E, Mendez H. Maternal and infant factors predicting disease progression in human immunodeficiency virus type 1-infected infants. Women and Infants Transmission Study Group. Pediatrics. 2000 Jan;105(1):e8. doi: 10.1542/peds.105.1.e8. PMID: 10617745.

83. Warszawski J, Lechenadec J, Faye A, Dollfus C, Firtion G, Meyer L, Douard D, Monpoux F, Tricoire J, Benmebarek Y, Rouzioux C, Blanche S. Long-term nonprogression of HIV infection in children: evaluation of the ANRS prospective French Pediatric Cohort. Clin Infect Dis. 2007 Sep 15;45(6):785-94. doi: 10.1086/521165. Epub 2007 Aug 14. PMID: 17712765.

84. Newell ML, Coovadia H, Cortina-Borja M, Rollins N, Gaillard P, Dabis F; Ghent International AIDS Society (IAS) Working Group on HIV Infection in Women and Children. Mortality of infected and uninfected infants born to HIV-infected mothers in Africa: a pooled analysis. Lancet. 2004 Oct 2-8;364(9441):1236-43. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(04)17140-7. PMID: 15464184.

85. Cotton MF, Rabie H. Impact of earlier combination antiretroviral therapy on outcomes
in children. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2015 Jan;10(1):12-7. doi:
10.1097/COH.0000000000117. PMID: 25389804; PMCID: PMC4429285.

86. Rainwater-Lovett K, Luzuriaga K, Persaud D. Very early combination antiretroviral therapy in infants: prospects for cure. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2015 Jan;10(1):4-11. doi: 10.1097/COH.00000000000127. PMID: 25402708; PMCID: PMC4351817.

Ananworanich J, Robb ML. The transient HIV remission in the Mississippi baby: why is this good news? J Int AIDS Soc. 2014 Nov 20;17(1):19859. doi: 10.7448/IAS.17.1.19859.
PMID: 25416415; PMCID: PMC4240852.

88. Boender TS, Sigaloff KC, McMahon JH, Kiertiburanakul S, Jordan MR, Barcarolo J, Ford N, Rinke de Wit TF, Bertagnolio S. Long-term Virological Outcomes of First-Line Antiretroviral Therapy for HIV-1 in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Clin Infect Dis. 2015 Nov 1;61(9):1453-61. doi: 10.1093/cid/civ556. Epub 2015 Jul 8. PMID: 26157050; PMCID: PMC4599392.

89. Boerma RS, Boender TS, Bussink AP, Calis JC, Bertagnolio S, Rinke de Wit TF, Boele van Hensbroek M, Sigaloff KC. Suboptimal Viral Suppression Rates Among HIV-Infected Children in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: A Meta-analysis. Clin Infect Dis. 2016 Dec 15;63(12):1645-1654. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciw645. Epub 2016 Sep 22. PMID: 27660236.

90. Duong T, Judd A, Collins IJ, Doerholt K, Lyall H, Foster C, Butler K, Tookey P, Shingadia D, Menson E, Dunn DT, Gibb DM; Collaborative HIV Paediatric Study Steering Committee. Long-term virological outcome in children on antiretroviral therapy in the UK and Ireland. AIDS. 2014 Oct 23;28(16):2395-405. doi: 10.1097/qad.00000000000438. PMID: 25389551; PMCID: PMC4210689.

91. Cissé AM, Laborde-Balen G, Kébé-Fall K, Dramé A, Diop H, Diop K, FatouNiasse-Traoré, Coulibaly M, Have NN, Vidal N, Thiam S, Wade AS, Peeters M, Taverne B, Msellati P, Touré-Kane C. High level of treatment failure and drug resistance to first-line antiretroviral therapies among HIV-infected children receiving decentralized care in Senegal. BMC Pediatr. 2019 Feb 5;19(1):47. doi: 10.1186/s12887-019-1420-z. PMID: 30722780; PMCID: PMC6362577.

92. Salou M, Dagnra AY, Butel C, Vidal N, Serrano L, Takassi E, Konou AA, Houndenou S, Dapam N, Singo-Tokofaï A, Pitche P, Atakouma Y, Prince-David M, Delaporte E, Peeters M. High rates of virological failure and drug resistance in perinatally HIV-1-infected children and adolescents receiving lifelong antiretroviral therapy in routine clinics in Togo. J Int AIDS

Soc. 2016 Apr 27;19(1):20683. doi: 10.7448/IAS.19.1.20683. PMID: 27125320; PMCID: PMC4850147.

93. Makadzange AT, Higgins-Biddle M, Chimukangara B, Birri R, Gordon M, Mahlanza T, McHugh G, van Dijk JH, Bwakura-Dangarembizi M, Ndung'u T, Masimirembwa C, Phelps B, Amzel A, Ojikutu BO, Walker BD, Ndhlovu CE. Clinical, Virologic, Immunologic Outcomes and Emerging HIV Drug Resistance Patterns in Children and Adolescents in Public ART Care in Zimbabwe. **PLoS** One. 2015 Dec 14;10(12):e0144057. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0144057. PMID: 26658814; PMCID: PMC4678607.

94. Agwu AL, Fairlie L. Antiretroviral treatment, management challenges and outcomes in perinatally HIV-infected adolescents. J Int AIDS Soc. 2013 Jun 18;16(1):18579. doi: 10.7448/IAS.16.1.18579. PMID: 23782477; PMCID: PMC3687074.

95. Meyerhans A, Cheynier R, Albert J, Seth M, Kwok S, Sninsky J, Morfeldt-Månson L, Asjö B, Wain-Hobson S. Temporal fluctuations in HIV quasispecies in vivo are not reflected by sequential HIV isolations. Cell. 1989 Sep 8;58(5):901-10. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(89)90942-2. PMID: 2550139.

96. Sluis-Cremer N, Tachedjian G. Mechanisms of inhibition of HIV replication by nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors. Virus Res. 2008 Jun;134(1-2):147-56. doi: 10.1016/j.virusres.2008.01.002. Epub 2008 Mar 26. PMID: 18372072; PMCID: PMC2745993.

97. Vingerhoets J, Tambuyzer L, Azijn H, Hoogstoel A, Nijs S, Peeters M, de Béthune MP, De Smedt G, Woodfall B, Picchio G. Resistance profile of etravirine: combined analysis of baseline genotypic and phenotypic data from the randomized, controlled Phase III clinical studies. AIDS. 2010 Feb 20;24(4):503-14. doi: 10.1097/QAD.0b013e32833677ac. PMID: 20051805.

98. Simen BB, Simons JF, Hullsiek KH, Novak RM, Macarthur RD, Baxter JD, Huang C, Lubeski C, Turenchalk GS, Braverman MS, Desany B, Rothberg JM, Egholm M, Kozal MJ; Terry Beirn Community Programs for Clinical Research on AIDS. Low-abundance drug-resistant viral variants in chronically HIV-infected, antiretroviral treatment-naive patients significantly impact treatment outcomes. J Infect Dis. 2009 Mar 1;199(5):693-701. doi: 10.1086/596736. PMID: 19210162.

99. Lataillade M, Chiarella J, Yang R, Schnittman S, Wirtz V, Uy J, Seekins D, Krystal M, Mancini M, McGrath D, Simen B, Egholm M, Kozal M. Prevalence and clinical significance of HIV drug resistance mutations by ultra-deep sequencing in antiretroviral-naïve subjects in the CASTLE study. PLoS One. 2010 Jun 3;5(6):e10952. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0010952. PMID: 20532178; PMCID: PMC2880604.

100. Mbisa JL, Gupta RK, Kabamba D, Mulenga V, Kalumbi M, Chintu C, Parry CM, Gibb DM, Walker SA, Cane PA, Pillay D. The evolution of HIV-1 reverse transcriptase in route to acquisition of Q151M multi-drug resistance is complex and involves mutations in multiple domains. Retrovirology. 2011 May 11;8:31. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-8-31. PMID: 21569325; PMCID: PMC3113953.

101. Race E, Dam E, Obry V, Paulous S, Clavel F. Analysis of HIV cross-resistance to protease inhibitors using a rapid single-cycle recombinant virus assay for patients failing on combination therapies. AIDS. 1999 Oct 22;13(15):2061-8. doi: 10.1097/00002030-199910220-00008. PMID: 10546858.

102. Rojas Sánchez P, Holguín A. Drug resistance in the HIV-1-infected paediatric population worldwide: a systematic review. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2014 Aug;69(8):2032-42. doi: 10.1093/jac/dku104. Epub 2014 Apr 30. PMID: 24788658.

103. Persaud D, Palumbo P, Ziemniak C, Chen J, Ray SC, Hughes M, Havens P, Purswani M, Gaur AH, Chadwick EG; Pediatric AIDS Clinical Trials Group P1030 Team. Early archiving and predominance of nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor-resistant HIV-1

among recently infected infants born in the United States. J Infect Dis. 2007 May 15;195(10):1402-10. doi: 10.1086/513871. Epub 2007 Apr 5. PMID: 17436219.

104. Pursuing Later Treatment Options II (PLATO II) Project Team for the Collaboration of Observational HIV Epidemiological Research Europe (COHERE), Lodwick R, Costagliola D, Reiss P, Torti C, Teira R, Dorrucci M, Ledergerber B, Mocroft A, Podzamczer D, Cozzi-Lepri A, Obel N, Masquelier B, Staszewski S, García F, De Wit S, Castagna A, Antinori A, Judd A, Ghosn J, Touloumi G, Mussini C, Duval X, Ramos J, Meyer L, Warsawski J, Thorne C, Masip J, Pérez-Hoyos S, Pillay D, van Sighem A, Lo Caputo S, Günthard H, Paredes R, De Luca A, Paraskevis D, Fabre-Colin C, Kjaer J, Chêne G, Lundgren JD, Phillips AN. Triple-class virologic failure in HIV-infected patients undergoing antiretroviral therapy for up to 10 years. Arch Intern Med. 2010 Mar 8;170(5):410-9. doi: 10.1001/archinternmed.2009.472. PMID: 20212176; PMCID: PMC3319528.

105. Zhao Y, Mu W, Harwell J, Zhou H, Sun X, Cheng Y, Li C, Zhang F. Drug resistance profiles among HIV-1-infected children experiencing delayed switch and 12-month efficacy after using second-line antiretroviral therapy: an observational cohort study in rural China. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2011 Sep 1;58(1):47-53. doi: 10.1097/QAI.0b013e318229f2a2. PMID: 21725248.

106. Musiime V, Kaudha E, Kayiwa J, Mirembe G, Odera M, Kizito H, Nankya I, Ssali F, Kityo C, Colebunders R, Mugyenyi P. Antiretroviral drug resistance profiles and response to second-line therapy among HIV type 1-infected Ugandan children. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses. 2013 Mar;29(3):449-55. doi: 10.1089/aid.2012.0283. Epub 2013 Jan 11. PMID: 23308370.

107. WHO. 2019. HIV DRUG RESISTANCE REPORT. [Online] Available: https://www.who.int/hiv/pub/drugresistance/hivdr-report-2019/en/

108. Violari A, Lindsey JC, Hughes MD, Mujuru HA, Barlow-Mosha L, Kamthunzi P, Chi BH, Cotton MF, Moultrie H, Khadse S, Schimana W, Bobat R, Purdue L, Eshleman SH, Abrams EJ, Millar L, Petzold E, Mofenson LM, Jean-Philippe P, Palumbo P. Nevirapine versus ritonavir-boosted lopinavir for HIV-infected children. N Engl J Med. 2012 Jun 21;366(25):2380-9. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1113249. PMID: 22716976; PMCID: PMC3443859.

109. Boerma RS, Sigaloff KCE, Akanmu AS, Inzaule S, Boele van Hensbroek M, Rinke de Wit TF, et al. Alarming increase in pretreatment HIV drug resistance in children living in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. 2016;72(2):365-71. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkw463.

110. Lodish H BA, Zipursky SL, et al. Molecular Cell Biology. 4th edition. New York: W.H. Freeman; 2000.

111. Tang MW, Shafer RW. HIV-1 antiretroviral resistance: scientific principles and clinical applications. Drugs. 2012 Jun 18;72(9):e1-25. doi: 10.2165/11633630-00000000-00000.
PMID: 22686620; PMCID: PMC3689909.

112. Wittek M, Stürmer M, Doerr HW, Berger A. Molecular assays for monitoring HIV infection and antiretroviral therapy. Expert Rev Mol Diagn. 2007 May;7(3):237-46. doi: 10.1586/14737159.7.3.237. PMID: 17489731.

113. Stürmer M, Berger A, Preiser W. HIV-1 genotyping: comparison of two commercially available assays. Expert Rev Mol Diagn. 2004 May;4(3):281-91. doi: 10.1586/14737159.4.3.281. PMID: 15137896.

114. ATCC. 2014. ATCC Teams with CDC and Thermo Fisher Scientific on Public
Health RT - PCR Assay. [Online] Available:
https://www.atcc.org/~/media/PDFs/Press%20Releases/2014%20Press%20Releases/HIV%20
Kits%20Press%20Release.ashx

115. Behjati S, Tarpey PS. What is next generation sequencing? Arch Dis Child Educ Pract
Ed. 2013 Dec;98(6):236-8. doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2013-304340. Epub 2013 Aug 28.
PMID: 23986538; PMCID: PMC3841808.

116. Silver N, Paynter M, McAllister G, Atchley M, Sayir C, Short J, Winner D, Alouani DJ, Sharkey FH, Bergefall K, Templeton K, Carrington D, Quiñones-Mateu ME. Characterization of minority HIV-1 drug resistant variants in the United Kingdom following the verification of a deep sequencing-based HIV-1 genotyping and tropism assay. AIDS Res Ther. 2018 Nov 8;15(1):18. doi: 10.1186/s12981-018-0206-y. PMID: 30409215; PMCID: PMC6223033.

117. Avidor B, Girshengorn S, Matus N, Talio H, Achsanov S, Zeldis I, Fratty IS, Katchman E, Brosh-Nissimov T, Hassin D, Alon D, Bentwich Z, Yust I, Amit S, Forer R, Vulih Shultsman I, Turner D. Evaluation of a benchtop HIV ultradeep pyrosequencing drug resistance assay in the clinical laboratory. J Clin Microbiol. 2013 Mar;51(3):880-6. doi: 10.1128/JCM.02652-12. Epub 2013 Jan 2. PMID: 23284027; PMCID: PMC3592040.

118. Li JZ, Paredes R, Ribaudo HJ, Svarovskaia ES, Metzner KJ, Kozal MJ, Hullsiek KH, Balduin M, Jakobsen MR, Geretti AM, Thiebaut R, Ostergaard L, Masquelier B, Johnson JA, Miller MD, Kuritzkes DR. Low-frequency HIV-1 drug resistance mutations and risk of NNRTI-based antiretroviral treatment failure: a systematic review and pooled analysis. JAMA. 2011 Apr 6;305(13):1327-35. doi: 10.1001/jama.2011.375. PMID: 21467286; PMCID: PMC3325645.

119. Gibson RM, Meyer AM, Winner D, Archer J, Feyertag F, Ruiz-Mateos E, Leal M, Robertson DL, Schmotzer CL, Quiñones-Mateu ME. Sensitive deep-sequencing-based HIV-1 genotyping assay to simultaneously determine susceptibility to protease, reverse transcriptase, integrase, and maturation inhibitors, as well as HIV-1 coreceptor tropism. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2014;58(4):2167-85. doi: 10.1128/AAC.02710-13. Epub 2014 Jan 27. PMID: 24468782; PMCID: PMC4023761.

120. Tzou PL, Ariyaratne P, Varghese V, Lee C, Rakhmanaliev E, Villy C, Yee M, Tan K, Michel G, Pinsky BA, Shafer RW. Comparison of an *In Vitro* Diagnostic Next-Generation Sequencing Assay with Sanger Sequencing for HIV-1 Genotypic Resistance Testing. J Clin Microbiol. 2018 May 25;56(6):e00105-18. doi: 10.1128/JCM.00105-18. PMID: 29618499; PMCID: PMC5971553.

121. Kagan RM, Johnson EP, Siaw M, Biswas P, Chapman DS, Su Z, Platt JL, Pesano RL. A genotypic test for HIV-1 tropism combining Sanger sequencing with ultradeep sequencing predicts virologic response in treatment-experienced patients. PLoS One. 2012;7(9):e46334. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0046334. Epub 2012 Sep 27. PMID: 23029482; PMCID: PMC3459909.

122. Demeter L, Haubrich R. International perspectives on antiretroviral resistance. Phenotypic and genotypic resistance assays: methodology, reliability, and interpretations. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2001 Mar 1;26 Suppl 1:S3-9. doi: 10.1097/00042560-200103011-00002. PMID: 11264997.

123. Mayer KH, Hanna GJ, D'Aquila RT. Clinical Use of Genotypic and Phenotypic Drug Resistance Testing to Monitor Antiretroviral Chemotherapy. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2001;32(5):774-82. doi: 10.1086/319231.

124. Imamichi H, Natarajan V, Adelsberger JW, Rehm CA, Lempicki RA, Das B, Hazen A, Imamichi T, Lane HC. Lifespan of effector memory CD4+ T cells determined by replicationincompetent integrated HIV-1 provirus. AIDS. 2014 May 15;28(8):1091-9. doi: 10.1097/QAD.0000000000223. PMID: 24492253.

125. Sanchez G, Xu X, Chermann JC, Hirsch I. Accumulation of defective viral genomes in peripheral blood mononuclear cells of human immunodeficiency virus type 1-infected individuals. J Virol. 1997 Mar;71(3):2233-40. doi: 10.1128/JVI.71.3.2233-2240.1997. PMID: 9032358; PMCID: PMC191331.

126. Bruner KM, Murray AJ, Pollack RA, Soliman MG, Laskey SB, Capoferri AA, Lai J, Strain MC, Lada SM, Hoh R, Ho YC, Richman DD, Deeks SG, Siliciano JD, Siliciano RF. Defective proviruses rapidly accumulate during acute HIV-1 infection. Nat Med. 2016 Sep;22(9):1043-9. doi: 10.1038/nm.4156. Epub 2016 Aug 8. PMID: 27500724; PMCID: PMC5014606.

127. Mens H, Kearney M, Wiegand A, Spindler J, Maldarelli F, Mellors JW, Coffin JM. Amplifying and quantifying HIV-1 RNA in HIV infected individuals with viral loads below the limit of detection by standard clinical assays. J Vis Exp. 2011 Sep 26;(55):2960. doi: 10.3791/2960. PMID: 21968801; PMCID: PMC3230205.

128. Huruy K, Mulu A, Liebert UG, Maier M. HIV-1C proviral DNA for detection of drug resistance mutations. PLoS One. 2018 Oct 4;13(10):e0205119. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0205119. Erratum in: PLoS One. 2018 Nov 1;13(11):e0207079. PMID: 30286160; PMCID: PMC6171930.

130. De La Cruz J, Vardhanbhuti S, Sahoo MK, Rovner R, Bosch RJ, Manasa J, Katzenstein DA, Pinsky BA. Persistence of Human Immunodeficiency Virus-1 Drug Resistance Mutations in Proviral Deoxyribonucleic Acid After Virologic Failure of Efavirenz-Containing Antiretroviral Regimens. Open Forum Infect Dis. 2019 Jan 16;6(3):ofz034. doi: 10.1093/ofid/ofz034. PMID: 30863788; PMCID: PMC6405934.

131. Derache A, Shin HS, Balamane M, White E, Israelski D, Klausner JD, Freeman AH, Katzenstein D. HIV drug resistance mutations in proviral DNA from a community treatment program. PLoS One. 2015 Jan 30;10(1):e0117430. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0117430. PMID: 25635815; PMCID: PMC4311981.

132. Josefsson L, von Stockenstrom S, Faria NR, Sinclair E, Bacchetti P, Killian M, Epling L, Tan A, Ho T, Lemey P, Shao W, Hunt PW, Somsouk M, Wylie W, Douek DC, Loeb L, Custer J, Hoh R, Poole L, Deeks SG, Hecht F, Palmer S. The HIV-1 reservoir in eight patients on long-term suppressive antiretroviral therapy is stable with few genetic changes over time. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013 Dec 17;110(51):E4987-96. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1308313110. Epub 2013 Nov 25. PMID: 24277811; PMCID: PMC3870728.

133. von Stockenstrom S, Odevall L, Lee E, Sinclair E, Bacchetti P, Killian M, Epling L, Shao W, Hoh R, Ho T, Faria NR, Lemey P, Albert J, Hunt P, Loeb L, Pilcher C, Poole L, Hatano H, Somsouk M, Douek D, Boritz E, Deeks SG, Hecht FM, Palmer S. Longitudinal Genetic Characterization Reveals That Cell Proliferation Maintains a Persistent HIV Type 1

DNA Pool During Effective HIV Therapy. J Infect Dis. 2015 Aug 15;212(4):596-607. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiv092. Epub 2015 Feb 23. PMID: 25712966; PMCID: PMC4539896.

134. Hiener B, Horsburgh BA, Eden JS, Barton K, Schlub TE, Lee E, von Stockenstrom S, Odevall L, Milush JM, Liegler T, Sinclair E, Hoh R, Boritz EA, Douek D, Fromentin R, Chomont N, Deeks SG, Hecht FM, Palmer S. Identification of Genetically Intact HIV-1 Proviruses in Specific CD4<sup>+</sup> T Cells from Effectively Treated Participants. Cell Rep. 2017 Oct 17;21(3):813-822. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.09.081. PMID: 29045846; PMCID: PMC5960642.

135. Hiener B, Eden JS, Horsburgh BA, Palmer S. Amplification of Near Full-length HIV1 Proviruses for Next-Generation Sequencing. J Vis Exp. 2018 Oct 16;(140):58016. doi:
10.3791/58016. PMID: 30394382; PMCID: PMC6235535.

136. Einkauf KB, Lee GQ, Gao C, Sharaf R, Sun X, Hua S, Chen SM, Jiang C, Lian X, Chowdhury FZ, Rosenberg ES, Chun TW, Li JZ, Yu XG, Lichterfeld M. Intact HIV-1 proviruses accumulate at distinct chromosomal positions during prolonged antiretroviral therapy. J Clin Invest. 2019 Mar 1;129(3):988-998. doi: 10.1172/JCI124291. Epub 2019 Jan 28. PMID: 30688658; PMCID: PMC6391088.

137.WHO. 2017. Surveillance of HIV drug resistance in children newly diagnosed with<br/>HIV by early infant diagnosis. [Online] Available:<br/>https://www.who.int/hiv/pub/drugresistance/hivdr-concept-note-2017/en/

138. Monleau M, Butel C, Delaporte E, Boillot F, Peeters M. Effect of storage conditions of dried plasma and blood spots on HIV-1 RNA quantification and PCR amplification for drug resistance genotyping. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2010 Aug;65(8):1562-6. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkq205. Epub 2010 Jun 11. PMID: 20542904.

139. Hearps AC, Ryan CE, Morris LM, Plate MM, Greengrass V, Crowe SM. Stability of dried blood spots for HIV-1 drug resistance analysis. Curr HIV Res. 2010 Mar;8(2):134-40. doi: 10.2174/157016210790442740. PMID: 20163343.

140. Monleau M, Montavon C, Laurent C, Segondy M, Montes B, Delaporte E, Boillot F, Peeters M. Evaluation of different RNA extraction methods and storage conditions of dried plasma or blood spots for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 RNA quantification and PCR amplification for drug resistance testing. J Clin Microbiol. 2009 Apr;47(4):1107-18. doi: 10.1128/JCM.02255-08. Epub 2009 Feb 4. PMID: 19193835; PMCID: PMC2668360.

141. McNulty A, Jennings C, Bennett D, Fitzgibbon J, Bremer JW, Ussery M, Kalish ML, Heneine W, García-Lerma JG. Evaluation of dried blood spots for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 drug resistance testing. J Clin Microbiol. 2007 Feb;45(2):517-21. doi: 10.1128/JCM.02016-06. Epub 2006 Dec 13. PMID: 17166967; PMCID: PMC1829056.

142. Parkin N, de Mendoza C, Schuurman R, Jennings C, Bremer J, Jordan MR, Bertagnolio S; WHO DBS Genotyping Working Group. Evaluation of in-house genotyping assay performance using dried blood spot specimens in the Global World Health Organization laboratory network. Clin Infect Dis. 2012 May;54 Suppl 4(Suppl 4):S273-9. doi: 10.1093/cid/cir982. PMID: 22544187; PMCID: PMC3338305.

143. Salazar-Gonzalez JF, Salazar MG, Tully DC, Ogilvie CB, Learn GH, Allen TM, Heath SL, Goepfert P, Bar KJ. Use of Dried Blood Spots to Elucidate Full-Length Transmitted/Founder HIV-1 Genomes. Pathog Immun. 2016 Spring;1(1):129-153. doi: 10.20411/pai.v1i1.116. PMID: 27819061; PMCID: PMC5096837.

144. Banks L, Gholamin S, White E, Zijenah L, Katzenstein DA. Comparing Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cell DNA and Circulating Plasma viral RNA pol Genotypes of Subtype C HIV-1. J AIDS Clin Res. 2012 Feb;3(2):141-147. doi: 10.4172/2155-6113.1000141. PMID: 23019537; PMCID: PMC3457662.

145. Diallo K, Murillo WE, de Rivera IL, Albert J, Zhou Z, Nkengasong J, Zhang G, Sabatier JF, Yang C. Comparison of HIV-1 resistance profiles in plasma RNA versus PBMC DNA in

heavily treated patients in Honduras, a resource-limited country. Int J Mol Epidemiol Genet. 2012;3(1):56-65. Epub 2012 Feb 28. PMID: 22493752; PMCID: PMC3316452.

146. Maswabi K, Ajibola G, Bennett K, Capparelli EV, Jean-Philippe P, Moyo S, Mohammed T, Batlang O, Sakoi M, Lockman S, Makhema J, Lichterfeld M, Kuritzkes DR, Hughes MD, Shapiro RL. Safety and Efficacy of Starting Antiretroviral Therapy in the First Week of Life. Clin Infect Dis. 2021 Feb 1;72(3):388-393. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciaa028. PMID: 31927562; PMCID: PMC7850532.

147. HIV/AIDS Network Coordination. 2018. Cross - Network PBMC Processing Standard Operating Procedure. [Online] Available: https://www.hanc.info/content/dam/hanc/documents/laboratory/cross-network-proceduressops/HANC-LAB-P0001\_v6.0\_2018-04-26\_PBMC\_SOP.pdf

148. Buzon MJ, Sun H, Li C, Shaw A, Seiss K, Ouyang Z, Martin-Gayo E, Leng J, Henrich TJ, Li JZ, Pereyra F, Zurakowski R, Walker BD, Rosenberg ES, Yu XG, Lichterfeld M. HIV-1 persistence in CD4+ T cells with stem cell-like properties. Nat Med. 2014 Feb;20(2):139-42. doi: 10.1038/nm.3445. Epub 2014 Jan 12. PMID: 24412925; PMCID: PMC3959167.

149. Folks TM, Powell D, Lightfoote M, Koenig S, Fauci AS, Benn S, Rabson A, Daugherty D, Gendelman HE, Hoggan MD, et al. Biological and biochemical characterization of a cloned Leu-3- cell surviving infection with the acquired immune deficiency syndrome retrovirus. J Exp Med. 1986 Jul 1;164(1):280-90. doi: 10.1084/jem.164.1.280. PMID: 3014036; PMCID: PMC2188205.

150. Garcia-Broncano P, Maddali S, Einkauf KB, Jiang C, Gao C, Chevalier J, Chowdhury FZ, Maswabi K, Ajibola G, Moyo S, Mohammed T, Ncube T, Makhema J, Jean-Philippe P, Yu XG, Powis KM, Lockman S, Kuritzkes DR, Shapiro R, Lichterfeld M. Early antiretroviral therapy in neonates with HIV-1 infection restricts viral reservoir size and induces a distinct innate immune profile. Sci Transl Med. 2019 Nov 27;11(520):eaax7350. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aax7350. PMID: 31776292.

151. Lee GQ, Orlova-Fink N, Einkauf K, Chowdhury FZ, Sun X, Harrington S, Kuo HH, Hua S, Chen HR, Ouyang Z, Reddy K, Dong K, Ndung'u T, Walker BD, Rosenberg ES, Yu XG, Lichterfeld M. Clonal expansion of genome-intact HIV-1 in functionally polarized Th1 CD4+ T cells. J Clin Invest. 2017 Jun 30;127(7):2689-2696. doi: 10.1172/JCI93289. Epub 2017 Jun 19. PMID: 28628034; PMCID: PMC5490740.

152. Pineda-Peña AC, Faria NR, Imbrechts S, Libin P, Abecasis AB, Deforche K, Gómez-López A, Camacho RJ, de Oliveira T, Vandamme AM. Automated subtyping of HIV-1 genetic sequences for clinical and surveillance purposes: performance evaluation of the new REGA version 3 and seven other tools. Infect Genet Evol. 2013 Oct;19:337-48. doi: 10.1016/j.meegid.2013.04.032. Epub 2013 May 7. PMID: 23660484.

153. Struck D, Lawyer G, Ternes AM, Schmit JC, Bercoff DP. COMET: adaptive contextbased modeling for ultrafast HIV-1 subtype identification. Nucleic Acids Res. 2014 Oct;42(18):e144. doi: 10.1093/nar/gku739. Epub 2014 Aug 12. PMID: 25120265; PMCID: PMC4191385.

154. Salimo AT, Ledwaba J, Coovadia A, Abrams EJ, Technau KG, Kuhn L, Morris L, Hunt GM. The use of dried blood spot specimens for HIV-1 drug resistance genotyping in young children initiating antiretroviral therapy. J Virol Methods. 2015 Oct;223:30-2. doi: 10.1016/j.jviromet.2015.07.005. Epub 2015 Jul 17. PMID: 26192603; PMCID: PMC4561412.

155. Ziemniak C, Mengistu Y, Ruff A, Chen YH, Khaki L, Bedri A, Simen BB, Palumbo P, Eshleman SH, Persaud D. Use of dried-blood-spot samples and in-house assays to identify antiretroviral drug resistance in HIV-infected children in resource-constrained settings. J Clin Microbiol. 2011 Dec;49(12):4077-82. doi: 10.1128/JCM.01004-11. Epub 2011 Sep 28. PMID: 21956987; PMCID: PMC3232965.

156. Dambaya B, Fokam J, Ngoufack ES, Takou D, Santoro MM, Této G, *et al.* HIV-1 Drug Resistance and Genetic Diversity among Vertically Infected Cameroonian Children and Adolescents. *Explor Res Hypothesis Med.* 2020;5(2):53. doi: 10.14218/ERHM.2019.00031.

157. Brice J, Sylla M, Desire N, Sayon S, Telly F, Bocar-Fofana D, Murphy R, Peytavin G, Diallo S, Nastouli E, Calvez V, Marcelin AG, Maiga AI, Lambert-Niclot S. Characterization of drug resistance and the defective HIV reservoir in virally suppressed vertically infected children in Mali. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2020 May 1;75(5):1272-1279. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkaa002. PMID: 32073629.

158. Cuzin L, Pugliese P, Sauné K, Allavena C, Ghosn J, Cottalorda J, Rodallec A, Chaix ML, Fafi-Kremer S, Soulié C, Ouka M, Charpentier C, Bocket L, Mirand A, Guiguet M; Dat'AIDS study group. Levels of intracellular HIV-DNA in patients with suppressive antiretroviral therapy. AIDS. 2015 Aug 24;29(13):1665-71. doi: 10.1097/QAD.00000000000723. PMID: 26372277.

159. Zaccarelli M, Santoro MM, Armenia D, Borghi V, Gennari W, Gori C, Forbici F, Bertoli A, Fabeni L, Giannetti A, Cicalini S, Bellagamba R, Andreoni M, Mastroianni CM, Mussini C, Ceccherini-Silberstein F, Perno CF, Antinori A. Genotypic resistance test in proviral DNA can identify resistance mutations never detected in historical genotypic test in patients with low level or undetectable HIV-RNA. J Clin Virol. 2016 Sep;82:94-100. doi: 10.1016/j.jcv.2016.07.007. Epub 2016 Jul 18. PMID: 27472519.

160. Tzou PL, Kosakovsky Pond SL, Avila-Rios S, Holmes SP, Kantor R, Shafer RW. Analysis of unusual and signature APOBEC-mutations in HIV-1 pol next-generation sequences. PLoS One. 2020 Feb 26;15(2):e0225352. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0225352. PMID: 32102090; PMCID: PMC7043932.

161. Crowell CS, Maiga AI, Sylla M, Taiwo B, Kone N, Oron AP, Murphy RL, Marcelin AG, Traore B, Fofana DB, Peytavin G, Chadwick EG. High Rates of Baseline Drug Resistance and Virologic Failure Among ART-naive HIV-infected Children in Mali. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2017 Nov;36(11):e258-e263. doi: 10.1097/INF.000000000001575. PMID: 28198788; PMCID: PMC5554754.

162. Kuhn L, Hunt G, Technau KG, Coovadia A, Ledwaba J, Pickerill S, Penazzato M, Bertagnolio S, Mellins CA, Black V, Morris L, Abrams EJ. Drug resistance among newly diagnosed HIV-infected children in the era of more efficacious antiretroviral prophylaxis.

AIDS. 2014 Jul 17;28(11):1673-8. doi: 10.1097/QAD.000000000000261. PMID: 24785949; PMCID: PMC4539942.

163. Simonetti FR, Sobolewski MD, Fyne E, Shao W, Spindler J, Hattori J, Anderson EM, Watters SA, Hill S, Wu X, Wells D, Su L, Luke BT, Halvas EK, Besson G, Penrose KJ, Yang Z, Kwan RW, Van Waes C, Uldrick T, Citrin DE, Kovacs J, Polis MA, Rehm CA, Gorelick R, Piatak M, Keele BF, Kearney MF, Coffin JM, Hughes SH, Mellors JW, Maldarelli F. Clonally expanded CD4+ T cells can produce infectious HIV-1 in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2016 Feb 16;113(7):1883-8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1522675113. Epub 2016 Feb 8. PMID: 26858442; PMCID: PMC4763755.

164. Bui JK, Halvas EK, Fyne E, Sobolewski MD, Koontz D, Shao W, Luke B, Hong FF, Kearney MF, Mellors JW. Ex vivo activation of CD4+ T-cells from donors on suppressive ART can lead to sustained production of infectious HIV-1 from a subset of infected cells. PLoS Pathog. 2017 Feb 22;13(2):e1006230. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1006230. PMID: 28225830; PMCID: PMC5338860.

165. Katusiime MG, Halvas EK, Wright I, Joseph K, Bale MJ, Kirby-McCullough B, et al. Intact HIV Proviruses Persist in Children Seven to Nine Years after Initiation of Antiretroviral Therapy in the First Year of Life. Journal of Virology. 2020;94(4):e01519-19. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01519-19.

166. Koofhethile CK, Moyo S, Kotokwe KP, Chang C, Mokgethi P, Muchoba L, Mokgweetsi S, Makhema J, Lockman S, Gaseitsiwe S, de Oliveira T, Essex M, Shapiro R, Kanki P, Novitsky V. Detection of Inducible Replication-Competent HIV-1 Subtype C Provirus Despite Long-Term Antiretroviral Treatment in Perinatally Infected Adolescents in Botswana. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses. 2021 Jan;37(1):16-23. doi: 10.1089/AID.2020.0097. Epub 2020 Oct 19. PMID: 32935556; PMCID: PMC7864094.

# ADDENDA

#### Addendum 1

Infon	into at/da	DI	PI			INCTI	INCTI
t ID	fective	P1 Major	Accesso ry	NRTI	NNRTI	Major	Accessory
AP-			G48R,				
103	Defective	None	G73S	M184I	M230I	G140R	G163R
AP- 103	Defective	None	G48R,G	M184I	M230I	None	GI40E,GI
AP-	Defective	INOILC	755	W11041	W12501	None	051
104	Defective	None	None	None	A98G,E138K	NA	NA
AP-							
104	Intact	None	None	None	A98G	None	None
AP- 104	Intact	None	None	None	A98G	None	None
AP-	Intuct	Ttolle	Ttolle	Ttolle	11000	Ttone	TONE
104	Defective	None	None	None	A98G	None	None
AP-							
104	Defective	None	None	None	A98G	NA	NA
AP- 104	Defective	None	None	None	A98G	None	None
AP-	Delective	rione	Tione		11,000		Tione
104	Intact	None	None	None	A98G	None	None
AP-	<b>.</b>				100 7		
104 A D	Defective	None	None	None	A98G	NA	NA
AP- 104	Defective	None	None	None	A98G	None	None
AP-	Delective	rtone	Ttone				Ttolle
104	Intact	None	None	None	A98G	None	None
AP-	D.C. I	Dank	G48R,G		1 (200)		G140K,G
105 A.D.	Defective	D30N	73S	M1841	M2301	None	163R
AF- 105	Defective	None	735	None	M230I	G140R	None
AP-	Deneeure	Tione	100				110110
105	Defective	None	None	None	None	R263K	G140K
AP-	D.C. I		0500		1 (200)	E138K,G140	
105 A P	Defective	None	G/3S	M1841	M2301	K	None G140K G
105	Defective	None	G48R	None	M230I	None	163R
AP-				K65R,Y115F,M			
109	Intact	None	None	184V	K103N,V106M,F227L	None	None
AP-	Tarta at	News	Naua	K65R,Y115F,M	K102NI V10CM E227I	Nama	Nama
109 AP-	Intact	None	None	184 V K65R Y115F M	K103N, V106M, F227L	None	None
109	Defective	None	None	184V	K103N,V106M,F227L	None	None
AP-				K65R,Y115F,M			
109	Defective	None	None	184V	K103N,V106M,F227L	None	None
AP-	Defention	News	0729	K65R,Y115F,M	K103N,V106M,F227L,M	Nama	Nama
109 AP-	Delective	INONE	0/35	184V K65R Y115F M	2501	INONE	none
109	Intact	None	None	184V	K103N,V106M,F227L	None	None
AP-				K65R,Y115F,M			
109	Intact	None	None	184V	K103N,V106M,F227L	None	None
AP-	T	N	N	K65R,Y115F,M		N	N
109 AP-	intact	INOne	None	184V K65R V115F M	K103N, V100M,F22/L	INONE	None
109	Defective	None	None	184V	K103N,V106M,F227L	None	None

## Table A1a: Drug resistance report for EIT infants <1 month, per sequence</th>

			PI				
Infan	intact/de	PI	Accesso			INSTI	INSTI
t ID	fective	Major	ry	NRTI	NNRTI	Major	Accessory
AP-	<b>T</b>	N	N	K65R,Y115F,M		N	N
109	Intact	None	None	184V	K103N,V106M,F227L	None	None
AP- 100	Intact	None	None	184V	K103N V106M E227I	None	None
ΔΡ-	Intact	None	None	K65R V115F M	K105N, V100M, P227L	None	None
109	Defective	None	G48R	184V	K103N V106M F227L	G140R	None
AP-	Beleeuve	rtone	OTOIN	K65R.Y115F.M		GIIOR	Tione
109	Intact	None	None	184V	K103N,V106M,F227L	None	None
AP-		D30N,		K65R,Y115F,M	K103N,V106I,E138K,G19		
109	Defective	M46I	None	184V	0E,F227L,M230I	E92K	G140E
AP-				K65R,Y115F,M			G140K,G
109	Defective	None	None	184V	K103N,V106M,F227L	None	163K
AP-				K65R,Y115F,M			
109	Defective	None	None	184V	K103N,V106M,F227L	None	None
AP-	<b>T</b> / /	N	N	K65R,Y115F,M		N	NT
109 A D	Intact	None	None	184 V V65D V115E M	K103N, V106M,F227L	None	None
AP- 100	Intact	None	None	184V	K103N V106M E227I	None	None
AP-	Intact	None	None	K65R D67F Y1	K103N V106M F227L M	TUNE	None
109	Defective	None	None	15E.M184V	2301	None	None
AP-	Benetitie	Tione	Tione	K65R.D67E.Y1	K103N.V106M.F227L.M	1 (one	110110
109	Defective	None	None	15F,M184V	2301	None	None
AP-				K65R,Y115F,M			
109	Defective	None	None	184V	K103N,V106M,F227L	None	None
AP-			G48R,G			E138K,G140	
110	Defective	None	73S	M184I	None	R,R263K	None
AP-			G48R,G			<b>G</b> ( 105	G1 (0)
110	Defective	None	738	M1841	M2301	GI40R	G163R
AP-	Defective	None	None	None	None	G140K,K263	Nona
ΔP.	Delective	None	None	None	None	к	None
110	Defective	None	G73S	None	M230I	G140R	None
AP-	Deneente	Tione	0,00	110110		- OT TOT	110110
110	Defective	None	None	M184I	M230I	G140R	G163R
AP-							
110	Defective	None	None	None	M230I	None	None
AP-							
110	Defective	None	None	None	M230I	G140R	G163R
AP-		N	N	N	1 (220)	N	N
110 AD	Defective	None	None	None	M230I	None	None
AP- 110	Defective	None	G48P	M184I	M230I	G140R	None
AP-	Delective	None	0401	1011041	W12501	GITOR	None
110	Intact	None	None	None	None	None	None
AP-							
110	Defective	M46I	G48E	M184I	None	G140R	G163R
AP-							
110	Defective	None	None	None	None	G140R	None
AP-	D.C. i			N7		G1 (0)	
110	Defective	None	None	None	None	G140R	None
AP-	Defective	None	C49D	M194I	M220I	C140P	C162P
	Delective	None	040K	111041	M2301	0140K	GIUSK
119	Defective	None	None	None	K103N	None	None
AP-						- · · · · ·	
119	Intact	None	None	None	K103N	None	None
AP-							
119	Intact	None	None	None	K103N	None	None
AP-						<b>DA</b> 4677	
119	Defective	None	G73S	None	K103N,M230I	R263K	None
AP-	Intect	Nora	Nora	Nona	K102N	Nona	None
117	mact	none	none	none	K103IN	none	none

Infan t ID	intact/de fective	PI Major	PI Accesso ry	NRTI	NNRTI	INSTI Major	INSTI Accessory
AP-	Defective	None	None	M18/I	K 103N M230I	G140R	G163R
AP-	L	N	None	N11041	K103N,W12301	N N	N
119 AP-	Intact	None	None	None	K103N	None	None
119 AP-	Intact	None	None	None	K103N	None	None
119 AD	Defective	None	None	None	K103N	None	None
AP- 119	Defective	None	None	None	K103N,M230I	G140R	None
AF- 119	Intact	None	None	None	K103N	None	None
119	Defective	None	None	None	K103N	None	None
AP- 119	Defective	None	None	None	K103N	None	None
AP- 119	Intact	None	None	None	K103N	None	None
AP- 119	Intact	None	None	None	K103N	None	None
AP- 119	Defective	D30N, M46I	G48E	None	K103N,G190E	E138K	G140K,G 163R
AP- 119	Defective	None	None	None	K103N	G140R	None
AP- 119	Intact	None	None	None	K103N	None	None
AP- 119	Defective	None	None	None	K103N	NA	NA
AP- 119	Defective	None	None	None	K103N	None	None
AP- 119	Intact	None	None	None	K103N	None	None
AP- 119	Intact	None	None	None	K103N	None	None
AP- 119	Intact	None	None	None	K103N	None	None
AP- 119	Defective	None	None	None	K103N	None	None
AP- 119	Intact	None	None	None	K103N	None	None
AP- 119	Intact	None	None	None	K103N	None	None
AP- 119	Defective	None	None	None	K103N	None	None
AP- 119	Defective	None	None	None	K103N	None	None
AP- 119	Intact	None	None	None	K103N	None	None
AP- 119	Intact	None	None	None	K103N	None	None
AP- 119	Defective	None	G73S	M184I	K103N	G140R	G163R
AP- 119	Defective	None	G73S	M184I	K103N,M230I	G140R	G163R
AP- 119	Intact	None	None	None	K103N	None	None
AP- 119	Intact	None	None	None	K103N	None	None
AP- 119	Intact	None	None	None	K103N	None	None
AP- 119	Defective	None	None	None	K103N	None	None

Infan t ID	intact/de fective	PI Major	PI Accesso ry	NRTI	NNRTI	INSTI Major	INSTI Accessory
AP-							
119	Defective	None	None	None	K103N	None	None
AP-							
119	Defective	None	G48E	M184I	K103N,E138K	None	G163R
AP-							
119	Defective	None	None	None	K103N	None	None
AP-	-						
119	Intact	None	None	None	K103N	None	None
AP-	DC	N		N/10/1	1/102NL 1/2201	C140D	N
119	Defective	None	None	M1841	K103N,M2301	G140R	None
AP-	Defective	None	None	None	K102N	None	None
119 AD	Delective	None	None	None	KIUSIN	None	INOILE
119	Intact	None	None	None	K103N	None	None
AP-							
119	Intact	None	None	None	K103N	None	None
AP-							
119	Defective	None	None	M184I	K103N,M230I	None	None
AP-			G48R,G				
130	Defective	D30N	73S	None	E138K	G140R	G163R
AP-							
134	Defective	M46I	None	None	None	NA	NA
AP-							
134	Defective	M46I	None	NA	NA	NA	NA
AP-	D.C. C	DON	0700	274		274	
138	Defective	D30N	G/3S	NA	NA	NA	NA
AP-	DC	N		MIGHT	142201	N	G140K,G
138	Defective	None	None	M1841	M2301	None	163K

Maternal ID	PI Maior	PI Accessory	NRTI	NNRTI
M-112	None	None	None	E138EA
M-110	None	None	None	None
M-105	None	None	None	None
M-109	None	None	K65R, Y115F, M184V	K103N, V106M
M-120	None	None	None	None
M-117	None	None	None	None
M-125	None	None	None	None
M-103	None	None	M184MR	None
M-115	None	None	None	None
M-118	None	None	None	None
M-123	None	None	None	None
M-124	None	None	None	None
M-121	None	L23LFIV	None	None
M-111	None	None	None	None
M-107	None	None	None	None
M-116	None	None	None	None
M-122	None	None	None	None
M-106	None	None	None	None
M-102	None	None	None	None
M-104	None	None	None	A98G
M-119	None	None	None	K103N
M-101	None	None	None	None

## Table A1b: Drug resistance report for EIT mothers at baseline